SUPPORT FOR INDEPENDENT AUDIOVISUAL PRODUCTION:

A Comparative Study of the Approaches Developed in a Sample of Countries



Véronique Guèvremont May 2023

Commissionned by









ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank the staff of Telefilm Canada for their support in conducting this study.

The opinions, findings, conclusions or recommendations contained in this document are those of the author and do not necessarily reflect the views of Telefilm Canada or the Government of Canada. The author is not an agent or representative of Telefilm Canada or the Government of Canada. Telefilm Canada and the Government of Canada are not bound by the recommendations contained in this document.

The original version of this report was produced in French.

Research assistants: Véronique Rocheleau-Brosseau, Clémence Varin

Graphic designer: Marie-Claude Rouleau, Elan Création

Translation (English version): Maxime Mariage



SUMMARY

This study provides a comparative analysis of approaches developed in a sample of countries, namely **Australia, France, New Zealand, Spain and the United Kingdom**, to support independent audiovisual production in the digital environment. The analyses are based on nearly 200 documentary sources consulted and on interviews with 17 people in various positions in the relevant bodies in the five countries. First, the **international context** in which support for the audiovisual sector is deployed is briefly presented. The study points out that **digital technologies have the effect of blurring the line between the national territory and the international market**: on the one hand, because cultural content benefits from greater freedom of movement in the digital environment; on the other hand, because cultural policies conceived for and applied to an analog environment largely controlled by the state are no longer adapted to the actors and business models that are now dominant. The pressure exerted by international competition is increasing due to the double effect of the explosion in the supply of cultural content and the decrease in the effectiveness of existing cultural policies. For Canada, **supporting the creation and production of new cultural content has therefore become even more relevant**. And to maintain the vitality of the sector, **there is an urgent need to rethink and modernize funding mechanisms**.

In this regard, it is emphasized that measures to support the creation and production of new audiovisual content contribute to the objectives of the 2005 Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions, to which Canada is party. In addition, the Operational Guidelines on the implementation of the Convention in the digital environment adopted in 2018 specify the means that must be deployed by the Parties to ensure that the objectives of this treaty are achieved online. The Guidelines emphasize, among other things, the need to adapt their policies and measures to the new challenges of the digital environment, taking into account the particularities of this environment, its functioning, the new actors, the new business models and the new types of content. The study also points out that financial support measures are consistent with Canada's trade commitments under its free trade agreements, including the Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA).

The study then identifies the **entities involved in financing** audiovisual production in each of the countries examined, including their budgets and the number of programs administered, and provides an overview of the reforms carried out to take into account the development of digital technologies in this sector.

The core of the analyses focuses on new types of content eligible for financial support, as well as other programs designed to stimulate independent audiovisual production in the digital environment.

With regard to content, the research and interviews conducted to document the approaches of the five countries covered show that several funds now support video games, extended reality content, and content for free video sharing platforms and social networks. As for programs, the study reports on various initiatives aimed at fostering the presence of a diversity of national content in the digital environment and stimulating new forms of partnership with digital actors. Other programs are designed to help build the capacity of companies to produce competitive digital content on the international market.

Finally, related topics are addressed, such as the **source of financial resources** intended for programs supporting the creation and production of new content. On this point, the study documents the reforms carried out or the reflections made by the countries covered in order to subject the platforms to obligations to support the production of national content.

Also examined are **tax incentives**, which are intended to stimulate the production of new types of content or to attract the production of foreign works to the territory of the countries covered. Consideration is also given to the **definition of national content**, whose criteria – some cultural, others economic – may encourage the retention of intellectual property on the territory of the country concerned.

Finally, a number of issues related to diversity in the audiovisual sector are identified, including the **promotion** of Indigenous cultural expressions and respect for their narrative sovereignty. All the countries examined also pay attention to language issues, with an increasing number of initiatives aimed at stimulating the production or distribution of content in minority, local or Indigenous languages. The **principles of equity, diversity** and inclusion also permeate a growing number of initiatives.

The study concludes with the following highlights:

- The five countries covered have undertaken reforms to adapt their financial support programs to the
 challenges and opportunities generated by digital technologies, a process that will continue over the next
 few years;
- Beyond films and series, financial aid supports new types of content in the digital environment, in particular video games, extended reality content and content for free video sharing platforms or social networks;
- Other financial support programs aim more generally to promote the presence of a diversity of national
 content in the digital environment, to stimulate new forms of partnership with digital actors or to
 strengthen the capacity of companies to produce competitive digital content on the international market;
- The tax incentives offered by the countries covered have also evolved to take into account the specificities of the digital environment and the new types of content;
- The criteria for defining national content are based on a set of both economic and cultural considerations, and are often part of strategies for retaining intellectual property rights in the territory of the countries concerned;
- A variety of diversity issues are increasingly influencing the way in which aid is deployed, resulting in a
 growing focus on Indigenous cultural expressions, linguistic diversity and EDI principles.

Finally, financial support for the creation and production of national cultural content is a measure that can contribute to reaching the objectives of the *Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions* in the digital environment, a treaty to which Canada is party.

In addition, this type of support is **consistent with Canada's international commitments under its free trade agreements**, including the the CUSMA between Canada, the United States and Mexico.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	7
2.	International context	9
3.	Funding agencies and reform movements	14
3.1	The relevant entities	14
3.2	A wind of reform	15
3.3	The next priorities	17
4.	Funding for new types of content	19
4.1	Video games	21
4.2	Extended reality content and interactive storytelling	23
4.3	Content intended for video sharing platforms and/or social networks	25
5.	Other funding related to the digital environment	27
5.1	Aid aimed at promoting digital content on the international market	27
5.2	Aid promoting diversity of national content online	30
5.3	Aid aimed at stimulating new forms of partnership with digital actors	32
5.4	Aid for companies to sthrenghten their digital content production capacities	33
6.	Main financial resources	35
7 .	Tax incentives	39
8.	National content and intellectual property retention strategy	42
9.	Diversity issues	48
9.1	Indigenous cultural expressions and narrative sovereignty	48
9.2	Linguistic diversity	49
9.3	Equity, diversity and inclusion (EDI) principles	50
10.	Highlights	54
Maiı	n documentary sources	55
List	of interviewees	67

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1	Budget of the agencies in each country covered	15
Table 2	List of programs supporting new types of content	20
Table 3	Examples of video game support programs	23
Table 4	Examples of programs supporting the creation of extended reality content	25
Table 5	Examples of support programs for content intended for video sharing platforms or social networks	26
Table 6	Examples of programs aimed at promoting digital content on the international market	30
Table 7	Examples of programs promoting a diversity of national content online	32
Table 8	Examples of programs aimed at stimulating new forms of partnership with digital actors	33
Table 9	Examples of programs for companies to strengthen their digital content production capabilities	34
Table 10	Incentives for the production of national or foreign cinematographic works	39
Table 11	Content covered by the tax incentives	40
Table 12	Main conditions for accessing tax incentives	41
Table 13	Overview of criteria for defining what constitutes national (or European) content	43
Table 14	Main EDI policy or measure implementation criteria	53

INTRODUCTION

While digital technologies are transforming the ways in which audiovisual content is created, produced, distributed, disseminated and accessed, they are also prompting governments to review their approaches to supporting cultural and creative industries. Over the past decade, several countries have undertaken important reforms to adapt their cultural policies to market developments and to modernize their programs to support the creation and production of new audiovisual content.

The revision of support programs aims in particular to take into account the new types of audiovisual content that are attracting public interest in the digital environment and the new players that are now involved in the value chain of cultural and creative industries, in particular platforms. The objectives are to face the increasing international competition encouraged by the digital shift and the further integration of economies, to support innovation in the field of audiovisual content creation and production, and above all to adapt the content offer to the changing consumption habits, especially among young people. Driven by a sense of urgency, several states are showing a strong desire to support the production of national content, but also local content or content in certain languages, and to ensure a significant presence of this cultural content in all distribution spaces.

In light of the above, this study proposes a comparative analysis of the approaches developed in a sample of countries, namely Australia, France, New Zealand, Spain and the United Kingdom, hereafter referred to as the "countries covered," to support audiovisual production in the digital environment. This study is based on nearly 200 documentary sources consulted and on interviews conducted with 17 people in various positions within the relevant bodies in the countries covered.



¹ While the study focuses on these countries, it also takes into account support from the European Union.



REPORT STRUCTURE

The remainder of the report is structured as follows:

SECTION 2

presents the international context in which financial support is deployed in the countries covered;

SECTION 3

identifies the main funding bodies in each country and provides an overview of the reforms carried out to take account of the rise of digital technologies in the audiovisual sector;

SECTION 4

examines the new types of content eligible for financial support;

SECTION 5

looks at other programs deployed to stimulate independent audiovisual production in the digital environment;

SECTION 6

explores the source of financial resources for programs supporting the creation and production of new content;

SECTION 7

presents the tax incentives in place in the countries covered;

SECTION 8

provides an overview of the criteria used to define national content and strategies for the retention of intellectual property in these countries;

SECTION 9

discusses a number of diversity-related issues in the audiovisual sector;

SECTION 10

concludes with a few highlights.

INTERNATIONAL CONTEXT

The rise of digital technology in the field of cultural and creative industries has a wide range of consequences, both for the actors in the value chain, which includes the public, and for policy makers. The latter must identify ways to renew their support for this sector, not only for economic reasons but also for political, social and cultural reasons.

Cultural goods and services: commodities of a unique kind...

The discourse on the specific nature of cultural goods and services, which should be considered not only for their economic value but also for their cultural dimension, in that they are "vectors of identity, values and meaning," is influencing a growing number of states determined to preserve their power to intervene in the cultural sector and to promote their cultural expressions, both on their own territory and internationally.

However, digital technologies have the effect of blurring the line between the national territory and the international market: on the one hand, because cultural content benefits from greater freedom of movement in the digital environment; on the other hand, because cultural policies designed for and applied to an analog environment largely controlled by the state are no longer adapted to the actors and business models that are now dominant. The pressure exerted by international competition is increasing due to the double effect of the explosion in the supply of cultural content and the decrease in the effectiveness of existing cultural policies. For Canada, this makes it all the more relevant to support the creation and production of new cultural content. And to maintain the vitality of the sector, the need to rethink and modernize funding mechanisms is becoming urgent.

Canada's international commitments

However, any such action cannot be undertaken without taking into account Canada's international commitments, both in the cultural sector and in the area of trade. While the 2005 Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions³ encourages Canada to support the production of new content and to modernize its policies to adapt them to the digital environment, it is also necessary to determine whether Canada's commitments under the free trade agreements it has ratified allow it to implement such measures.

"In the digital environment, the pressure exerted by international competition is increasing due to the double effect of the explosion in the supply of cultural content and the decrease in the effectiveness of existing cultural policies".

² UNESCO, Universal Declaration on Cultural Diversity, 2001, Article 8.

³ Adopted in Paris on October 20, 2005. Entered into force on March 18, 2007.

TAKING INTO ACCOUNT CANADA'S INTERNATIONAL COMMITMENTS

Commitments under multilateral, regional and bilateral trade agreements

Obligation to grant access to the national market to cultural goods and services from other countries

Prohibition to grant more favourable treatment to national cultural goods and services than to similar cultural goods and services from other countries (principle of non-discrimination)



Non-discrimination commitments can apply to digital trade

Certain clauses – such as a cultural exemption – may be included in order to preserve the right of states to adopt the cultural policies they deem appropriate, in particular to support their national cultural goods and services

Commitments under the 2005 UNESCO Convention

Recognition of the dual nature – economic and cultural – of cultural goods and services

Reaffirmation of the sovereign right of states to implement the policies and measures they deem appropriate to protect and promote the diversity of cultural expressions



These policies and measures can be deployed in the digital environment

These policies and measures may specifically target national cultural goods and services

These policies and measures may include the allocation of public financial aid to national businesses, artists and cultural professionals

Canada's trade commitments

The issue is highly relevant because some of Canada's trade commitments – which now extend to digital trade – have had the effect of diminishing the protection offered by the Canadian cultural exemption historically put in place to exclude cultural industries from the scope of free trade agreements and preserve Canada's cultural sovereignty. These commitments could therefore have the effect of restricting Canada's ability to turn to certain types of cultural policies.

Since the conclusion of the first free trade agreement with the United States in 1988 and until recently, Canada had managed to exclude all cultural industries from the scope of its bilateral and regional trade agreements. With the incorporation of a general cultural exemption,⁴ Canada was able to maintain control over its current and future cultural policies.

Two recent agreements, however, have escaped this pattern: the Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) between Canada and the European Union and the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP)⁵ do not contain a general cultural exemption, i.e., a clause that excludes cultural industries from all chapters and therefore from all commitments under these treaties. These two agreements also contain commitments on digital trade that create insecurity for Canadian cultural industries and uncertainty about the compatibility of certain existing or future cultural policies. In addition to these two agreements, there is also the special case of the Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement (CUSMA): although it contains a general cultural exemption that applies to the chapter on digital trade, a retaliatory clause can be activated if a cultural policy incompatible with the rules of this chapter is implemented by Canada.⁶

⁴ In addition to the 1988 Free Trade Agreement, thirteen other free trade agreements (FTAs) concluded by Canada contain a general cultural exemption. These are the North American Free Trade Agreement, with the United States and Mexico (NAFTA)(1992)(entry into force: January 1, 1994), as well as agreements with Israel (entry into force: January 1, 1997), Chile (entry into force: July 5, 1997), Costa Rica (entry into force: November 1, 2002), the European Free Trade Association (entry into force: July 1, 2009), Peru (entry into force: August 1, 2009), Colombia (entry into force: August 15, 2011), Jordan (entry into force: October 1, 2012), Panama (entry into force: April 1, 2013), Honduras (entry into force: October 1, 2014), Republic of Korea (entry into force: January 1, 2015), Ukraine (entry into force: August 1, 2017), and the United Kingdom (entry into force: April 1, 2021).

⁵ These agreements entered into force on September 21, 2017 and December 30, 2018, respectively.

 $^{\,\,}$ 6 $\,\,$ This was also reiterated by the United States in relation to Bill C-11.

Such a scenario is not unrealistic. For several years, the United States has been deploying a strategy aimed at extending the rule of non-discrimination – a founding principle of free trade agreements – to digital trade, with the goal of fighting any form of quantitative restriction. Quotas, a measure that has been used for decades in many states, but also recently the setting of minimum thresholds for national content in the catalogs of platforms or the requirements of discoverability of this content, are new forms of discriminatory measures (comparable to quantitative restrictions) to which the United States seems to be opposed.

In contrast, at the turn of the millennium, the United States stopped being concerned with the allocation of public financial aid aimed at supporting the creation and production of national content, as the sums generally invested were not large enough to create real distortions to trade in cultural goods and services. In general, the Canadian cultural exemption applies to the allocation of subsidies, and Canada's most recent trade agreements exclude subsidies from commitments on digital trade.⁷

Thus, while Canada's commitments could have the effect of considerably reducing its power to intervene in the digital environment, recourse to public financial aid to support the production of national content seems to remain possible, at least to the extent that the support funds are fed by Canadian public funds or contributions from private Canadian companies. A possible obligation imposed on foreign platforms to contribute to funds supporting the production of new Canadian content could raise various questions as to the compatibility of such a requirement with Canada's trade commitments. If this scenario were to materialize, careful consideration would need to be given to the determination of the terms and conditions for the imposition of such financial contributions and the determination of the potential beneficiaries of the funds so contributed.

Canada's commitments under the 2005 UNESCO Convention

From the perspective of Canada's commitments under the 2005 Convention, which apply to the digital environment, such financial support appears necessary to achieve the objectives of that treaty. The intervention of parties in favour of their own cultural expressions – by actively supporting the creation, production, distribution, dissemination of and access to these cultural expressions – is both a right and an obligation.

First, it is provided that "each Party may adopt measures aimed at protecting and promoting the diversity of cultural expressions within its territory," which may include "measures aimed at providing domestic independent cultural industries and activities in the informal sector effective access to the means of production, dissemination and distribution of cultural activities, goods and services and "measures aimed at providing public financial assistance." Second, the 2005 Convention sets out an obligation to promote cultural expressions, according to which "Parties shall endeavour to create in their territory an environment which encourages individuals and social groups: [...] to create, produce, disseminate, distribute and have access to their own cultural expressions, paying due attention to the special circumstances and needs of women as well as various social groups, including persons belonging to minorities and indigenous peoples."

⁷ This is particularly true of the CUSMA and the CPTPP. According to Article 19.4 paragraph 2 of the CUSMA, the non-discriminatory treatment of digital goods rule "does not apply to a subsidy or grant provided by a Party, including a government-supported loan, guarantee, or insurance." Article 14.4 of the CPTPP on non-discriminatory treatment of digital products states in paragraph 3 that this "Article does not apply to subsidies or grants provided by a Party, including government-supported loans, guarantees and insurance."

^{8 2005} Convention, Article 6.1.

^{9 2005} Convention, Article 6.2(c).

^{10 2005} Convention, Article 6.2(d).

^{11 2005} Convention, Article 7.1(a).

The Operational Guidelines on the implementation of the Convention in the digital environment¹² specify the means that must be used by the Parties to ensure that the objectives of this treaty are achieved online. The Guidelines emphasize, among other things, the need to adapt their policies and measures to the new challenges of the digital environment, taking into account the particularities of this environment, its functioning, the new actors, the new business models and the new types of content.¹³ In particular, they suggest the type of measures that Parties should adopt in order to support the creation, production, dissemination, distribution of and access to a diversity of cultural expressions in the digital environment. For example, at the "stage of creation, Parties shall aim to support new forms of creativity in the digital environment, including artistic practices that are interactive and occur in real-time"¹⁴; at the "stage of production, Parties shall aim to support the modernization of the cultural and creative industries."¹⁵ Measures should aim in particular to "promote new forms of financing for cultural and creative industries in the digital environment and encourage new types of partnerships between the public and private sectors in the digital environment".¹⁶ It is also stated that Parties "shall aim to ensure the free and permanent access to diverse cultural expressions," including through measures to "support linguistic diversity."¹⁷⁷

Finally, the Guidelines link these support measures to the integration of culture into sustainable development frameworks, stating that "[a]t the national level, measures should aim to: [...] raise awareness and promote the consumption of local cultural content and, as a result, foster the development of viable cultural and creative industries in the digital environment at the local, regional and national levels." It is also recognized that support for cultural and creative industries contributes to the achievement of the 2030 Sustainable Development Goals, in particular Goal 8 on decent work and economic growth, several of whose targets deal with technological upgrading, policies that foster creativity and innovation, and the promotion of local culture and products. 19

"The Guidelines emphasize, among other things, the need to adapt their policies and measures to the new challenges of the digital environment, taking into account the particularities of this environment, its functioning, the new actors, the new business models and the new types of content".

"Measures should aim in particular to "promote new forms of financing for cultural and creative industries in the digital environment and encourage new types of partnerships between the public and private sectors in the digital environment".

¹² Approved by the Conference of Parties at its sixth session (2017). Complementing the objectives set out in the text of the 2005 Convention, these Guidelines reaffirm "the Parties' sovereign right to formulate, to adopt and to implement policies and measures for the protection and promotion of the diversity of cultural expressions in the digital environment" (paragraph 8.4).

¹³ See in particular paragraphs 5 and 9 of these Operational Guidelines.

¹⁴ *Id.*, para. 14.

¹⁵ *Id.*, para. 15.

¹⁶ Id., para. 15.3.

¹⁷ Id., para. 17.4.

¹⁸ *Id.*, para. 23.1.

¹⁹ See in particular targets 8.2, 8.3 and 8.6. See also Danielle Cliche and Yudhishthir Raj Isar, "Advancing creativity for development in UNESCO", Re|Shaping Cultural Policies, Global Report, 2018, pp. 17-29.

Supporting national cultural expressions: a necessary requirement to respect the fundamental rights of individuals and groups

State intervention in favour of cultural and creative industries can even be considered necessary for the respect of fundamental rights and freedoms, in particular cultural rights, which must be protected in the digital environment.²⁰ The right to cultural identity in the digital environment requires that everyone has unrestricted access to the content and expressions of their choice, especially those that refer to the community or cultural identity with which they identify.

However, the position of a handful of actors in the digital environment may jeopardize the possibility for states to fully respect their commitments under both the 2005 Convention and human rights instruments, unless they make significant reforms to their cultural policies. These may be legislative reforms, for example to ensure that cultural content platforms contribute to a country's cultural ecosystem and are subject to the same rules as domestic actors. But these reforms can also be financial in nature, in order to guarantee the availability of national or local cultural content or content in minority languages.

MONDIACULT 2022: A renewed Canadian commitment to content diversity

These objectives now appear to be a priority. At least, this is what emerges from the Final Declaration adopted at the end of the UNESCO World Conference on Cultural Policies and Sustainable Development -MONDIACULT 2022, which sets out the common priorities of the ministers of Culture who met on this occasion to "fully harness the transformative impact of culture for the sustainable development."21 Underlining "the structural impact of the digital transformation on societies and the cultural sector [...] which affects the cultural industries, and access to cultural goods and service" and "risks such as the reinforced global imbalance of flows of cultural goods and services, and the impoverishment of cultural and linguistic diversity online,"22 the ministers committed "to foster an enabling environment conducive to the respect and exercise of all human rights, in particular cultural rights - individual and collective - in all areas of culture, from cultural heritage to cultural and creative sectors, including in the digital environment."23 They also committed to protecting and fostering the diversity of cultural contents, as well as linguistic diversity"24 and to "implementing" legal and public policy frameworks that uphold the rights of peoples and communities to their cultural identity and heritage, including the expressions of the cultures of indigenous peoples."25 Finally, they called upon UNESCO to assist them in harnessing the digital transformation in the cultural sector.²⁶ In the five countries covered by this study, a wind of reform is already blowing, leading the main funding agencies to modernize their support programs for audiovisual production to take into account the opportunities and challenges generated by digital technologies.

²⁰ In her report on public spaces, the Special Rapporteur on cultural rights (2019) states that in the digital age, "public spaces are no longer limited to strictly physical spaces but also include cyberspace." Therefore, human rights guarantees are still valid online.

²¹ Final Declaration, para. 1.

²² Id., para. 8.

²³ Id., para. 10.

²⁴ Id., para. 10 (iv)

²⁵ Id., para. 10 (v).

²⁶ *Id.*, para. 18.



3.1 THE RELEVANT ENTITIES

Four of the five countries – Australia, France, New Zealand and the United Kingdom – rely primarily on a single funding agency for audiovisual production:

- <u>Screen Australia</u> was established in 2008 under the <u>Screen Australia Act 2008</u> and took over the functions of its three predecessor agencies, the Australian Film Commission (AFC), the Film Finance Corporation Australia and Film Australia Limited, on July 1, 2008. Screen Australia administers about thirty programs, with an annual budget of AU\$120.33M (2021-2022).
- In France, the <u>Centre national du cinéma et de l'image animée</u> (CNC) is a public administrative body created in 1946 and placed under the supervision of the Ministry in charge of culture and the budget. The budget of €703M (2022) is divided into several funds allowing for the deployment of some forty programs.
- The New Zealand Film Commission (NZFC) is an autonomous public body, established by the New Zealand
 Film Commission Act in 1978. The NZFC administers some thirty programs, with an annual budget of
 NZ\$68.98M(2021-2022).
- In the United Kingdom, the <u>British Film Institute</u> (BFI) became in 2011 following the abolition of the UK Film Council and the transfer of its funds to the BFI the only non-departmental public body responsible for the distribution of funds to support the audiovisual sector, which come mainly from the national lottery. The BFI's annual budget is £132.3M, which supports about fifteen programs.

In Spain, at least two entities are responsible for supporting the audiovisual sector at the federal level:

- The <u>Institute of Cinematography and Audiovisual Arts</u> (ICAA) (Instituto de la Cinematografía y de las Artes Audiovisuales), an independent organization created in 1985 (part of the portfolio of the Ministry of Culture and Sport) with a mandate for cinema and audiovisual media that could be described as "traditional." The ICAA's budget for the year 2023 is €186M and 8 financial aid programs are deployed.
- The <u>Sub-directorate general for the Promotion of Cultural Industries</u> (Subdirección General de Promoción de Industrias Culturales) of the Ministry of Culture and Sport, created in 2008, which supports through various initiatives all cultural industries (except the film industry), including those producing new types of content. In 2023, nearly €17M will be allocated to the promotion of these cultural industries.

In addition, certain similarities with the Canadian constitutional and linguistic context, i.e., the sharing of jurisdiction over culture between the federal level and the autonomous communities, as well as the country's multilingualism, also prompt an interest in the measures implemented by sub-state entities. For example, the support offered by the autonomous community of Catalonia is provided through the <u>Catalan Institute of Cultural Enterprises</u> (Institut Català de les Empreses Culturals/ICEC), a public institution created in 2001 and under the Department of Culture of the Generalitat de Catalunya. This study will be limited to this example, although other autonomous communities in Spain may also have their own financial support structure.

The following table shows the budgets of the agencies in each country covered and converts them to Canadian dollars to facilitate comparison. Taking into account the population of each of these countries also makes it possible to compare the amounts invested per person, again in Canadian dollars.

TABLE 1 - Budget of the agencies in each country covered

COUNTRY (YEAR)	AGENCY	BUDGET (MILLION)	BUDGET (MILLION)CA\$	POPULATION (MILLION)	CA\$/ PERSON
Australia (2021-2022)	Screen Australia	AU\$120	110	25.9	4.25
Spain (2022)	ICAA	€186	268	47.5	5.64
France (2022)	CNC	€703	1015	64.5	15.74
New Zealand (2021-2022)	NZFC	NZ\$69	58	5.1	11.37
United Kingdom (2021-2022)	BFI	£132	217	67.3	3.22

Finally, with regard to France and Spain, it should be noted that certain aids deployed at the European Union level can also benefit national producers.

3.2 A WIND OF REFORM

It was at the end of the 2000s that the relevant agencies in four of the five countries covered (Australia, Spain, New Zealand and United Kingdom) began to make certain changes in order to adapt their mandates and support programs in response to the rise of digital technologies in the cultural and creative industries. In France, the CNC's first support measures for video games appeared in 2003. In the years that followed, various support measures for the creation of multimedia cultural content were put in place, and a support fund specifically dedicated to this type of content was created in 2008. Today, new media, extended reality works and immersive experiences are also financed by the CNC, notably through the Immersive Creation Fund.

As for Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom, the relevant entities have followed similar trajectories with the launch of consultations at the turn of the 2010s and then the conduct of several reforms in the years that followed. In 2017, for example, Screen Australia specified in its <u>Terms of Trade</u> that an employee of an online platform could not be eligible for its programs. Then in 2019, the government launched a process of policy and legislative reforms to cover the distribution of media content online (on platforms such as YouTube, Facebook, Netflix, etc.) and offline. In September 2020, a first phase was announced, including AU\$53 million in financial support for the production of Australian content, reforms to the Australian Screen Production Incentives, and changes to simplify Australian content exhibition obligations for broadcasters.

In New Zealand, following the publication of a critical report in 2010 (Review of the New Zealand Film Commission), the NZFC was led to restructure and review its working methods, particularly with a view to encouraging the emergence of new talent. In the following years, the NZFC established new programs, including the Interactive Development Fund (2014), which aims to develop narrative content for immersive platforms, and the International Co-Development Fund (2019), which supports, among other things, co-productions of drama series with major international partners, including foreign platforms.

As for the UK, in 2012 the BFI launched its first consultations to establish its priorities for the next few years, leading to the publication of the 2012-2017 Film Forever plan. The plan includes a review of the Distribution Fund (now part of the UK Global Screen Fund) to stimulate new ways of distributing and promoting UK content, the development of new online services by BFI Digital (a media library showcasing the UK's audiovisual heritage) and an improvement of the BFI Player (an video on-demand streaming service).

Finally, as regards Spain, the <u>Culture 2020 Plan</u> adopted in 2017 has several objectives, including the promotion of a quality cultural offer and the improvement of financing for cultural and creative industries, including video games. Other initiatives aim to recognize the central role of SMEs in the development of this sector, which is reflected in the deployment of financial aid to support their cultural and creative projects, as well as the strengthening of their digital capacities. In addition, a <u>permanent working table of the General Administration of the State and the Autonomous Communities with the video game sector set up in 2017 allows for the discussion of the challenges facing this sector and the establishment of a common strategy. This table played, among other things, an important role in the deployment of aid to the video game sector in Spain, particularly to enable it to compete on the international scene.</u>

3.3 THE NEXT PRIORITIES

Far from being completed, the reform movement is still underway in the five countries covered, as evidenced by various initiatives currently being deployed. In some cases, more general orientations seem to be emerging at the state level, for example in the framework of cultural policies or strategies, some of which specifically target the digital environment.

In France

At the CNC, the strategic document "Soutien au cinéma, à l'audiovisuel et au multimédia – perspectives 2022" (Support for Cinema, Audiovisual Media and Multimedia – Perspectives 2022) focuses on three major challenges: the first is structuring the sectors in a way that promotes the diversity and quality of the works disseminated; the second is adapting to growing internationalization by strengthening the attractiveness and export capabilities of French works, particularly through investment in training and infrastructure (studios), and by improving tax incentives; the third is winning back young people, whose attention is mainly focused on major American productions (blockbusters) and content offered by foreign platforms. To meet these challenges, the CNC intends to deploy a two-pronged strategy. First, it aims to "strengthen the overall effectiveness of its action in the service of cinema, audiovisual media and multimedia" by contributing to the diversity of film creation, consolidating the audiovisual program industry and enriching the program offering by supporting audiovisual innovation. Second, it aims to "respond to the most recent changes affecting the conditions of financing, creation, production and dissemination in cinema, audiovisual media and multimedia," in particular by reinforcing the attractiveness of the national territory for filming and by promoting the diversity of the offer and the exposure of French creation on video and on new distribution media.

This CNC document seems to be perfectly in line with the <u>Ministry of Culture's Digital Strategy</u> published in 2021 and Objective 8 of the <u>France 2030 Plan</u>, which aims to place France at the forefront of cultural and creative content production. The cultural component of this plan includes a <u>Cultural and Creative Industries Acceleration Strategy</u>, a <u>Strategy for the Development of Digital Filming and Production Studios</u> and a strategy dedicated to the emergence of national champions for immersive cultural offerings.

In the United Kingdom

As for the BFI, a new 10-year strategy published in September 2022, <u>Screen Culture 2033</u>, aims in particular to diversify audiences and revise existing programs to target new types of audiovisual content. The strategy will also review the public's relationship with the UK's audiovisual heritage, in particular by creating new ways of interacting with the collections and diversifying the works collected, preserved and made accessible. It should also further develop the BFI's digital platforms to maximize the benefits of digital technology to reach new audiences (*Digital First*). A plan for the next three years is expected in spring 2023.

Far from being completed, the reform movement is still underway in the five countries covered, as evidenced by various initiatives currently being deployed.

In Australia

Screen Australia's <u>Corporate Plan 2022-2026</u> sets out the agency's key objectives for the coming years, which include supporting the creation, production of and access to "Australian stories," both at the national and international level, and across all platforms. Another priority target is to support highly skilled and creative professionals who produce projects that are innovative in both form and distribution.

On January 30, 2023, Australia unveiled its new cultural policy *Revive: A place for every story, a story for every place*. Structured around five pillars – 1. First Nations; 2. A Place for Every Story; 3. Centrality of the Artist; 4. Strong Cultural Infrastructure; 5. Engaging the Audience – this policy clearly has similar objectives to those identified by Screen Australia in its 2022-2026 Plan. In addition, the <u>Australian government has announced the return of a video game support program, the Australian Interactive Games Fund, which will have a broader scope than the Games Expansion Pack program (see section 4.1) currently offered by Screen Australia and has confirmed the introduction of a tax incentive for this sector.</u>

In New Zealand

In New Zealand, the <u>review of investment in the audiovisual sector</u> that began in 2021 could include a strengthening of the cultural test to ensure that a greater diversity of New Zealand content is reflected on screens. The review could also lead to a revision of tax incentives to improve support for skills and career development for New Zealand professionals, as well as for New Zealand companies in the sector. The next few years should also see the NZFC continue to work on adapting its programs to the rapidly changing audiovisual industry, with one of its goals being to increase the presence of New Zealand films on online platforms to make them accessible to a wider audience. The NZFC also intends to work on developing agreements with studios and platforms to stimulate filming in New Zealand.

In Spain

Finally, the <u>Digital Spain 2026 Agenda</u> launched in 2020 includes the <u>Spain Audiovisual Hub Plan</u>, endowed with nearly 1,603 million euros for the period 2021-2025 from Spain and the European Union. With the aim of updating the Spanish audiovisual ecosystem, this plan covers not only traditional audiovisual content (fiction, TV), but also multimedia and interactive content, software, video games and transmedia content or those incorporating immersive experiences with visual effects or virtual reality. It aims to increase the competitiveness of the Spanish content production industry and its international promotion, to develop more audiovisual content produced in Spain (+30% by 2025), to allow creators to keep the intellectual rights to their works and to promote access to as much content as possible produced in Spain.

FUNDING FOR NEW TYPES OF CONTENT

The reforms carried out in the five countries covered have led the relevant entities to support new types of audiovisual content, i.e. content other than films or series broadcasted in the traditional way (cinema and television) or online.²⁷ Three types of new content are mainly targeted: A. video games; B. extended reality content (an umbrella term encompassing augmented reality, virtual reality, and mixed reality) and interactive storytelling, and; C. content for free video sharing platforms or social networks.

Funds dedicated to this content can target specific stages of its creation, including writing, development, production, post-production, distribution, dissemination, marketing or training and mentoring. The following table outlines the programs in place in each country to support these new types of content.

Three types of new content are mainly targeted: A. video games; B. extended reality content (an umbrella term encompassing augmented reality, virtual reality, and mixed reality) and interactive storytelling, and; C. content for free video sharing platforms or social networks.

²⁷ Although this study focuses on the support deployed by the single audiovisual production funding agency in each of the countries covered, or the three entities pre-identified in section 3 in the case of Spain, it should be noted that there are other agencies or entities within these countries administering aid programs to support the new types of content presented in this section. For example: In Australia, several regions have set up their own funds to support video games and, in some cases, immersive content, including Vic Screen. In France, several departments of the Ministry of Culture administer various initiatives related to the use of digital technologies in the field of cultural and creative industries; territorial collectivities may also be called upon to support artistic creation and dissemination, particularly in the digital environment. In New Zealand, the Centre of Digital Excellence is a regional economic development initiative designed to foster the emergence of a sustainable video game industry ecosystem; moreover, Te Māngai Pāho funds, among other things, content for online distribution that promotes Māori language and culture. Via the Innovative Content for Emerging Platforms, the organization funds innovative content and genres that have not yet been explored on new and innovative platforms. In the UK, Creative England administers various programs targeting the creative industries, including video games; some regions have also set up their own support funds.

TABLE 2 – List of programs supporting new types of content

D: Development, including writing P: Production, including post-production		DEO	GAM	IES		CONTENT / EXTENDED FREE VIDEO CONTEI REALITY SHARING SOCIAL N SITES										
M: Distribution/Dissemination/Marketing T: Training/Mentoring	D	Р	М	Т	D	Р	М	Т	D	Р	М	Т	D	Р	М	Т
Country / Programs	D		l II	'	D		l III	'	D		l III	'	ט		11	'
SCREEN AUSTRALIA																
Games: Expansion Pack		Х														
Instagram Nations Creators Program														Х		Х
Skip Ahead										Х		Х				
Online Production						Х				Х						
Screen Story Development Fund					Х											
Documentary Development					Х											
Production Producer Program						Х										
SUBDIRECCION GENERAL DE PROMOCIÓN DE	IND	USTF	RIAS	CULI	TUR.	LES	(SPA	AIN)								
Aid for the Promotion of the Video Game Sector and Other Forms of Digital Creation	Χ	Х	X	X	Х	Х	Х	Х						Х	Х	
INSTITUT CATALÀ DE LES EMPRESES CULTU	JRAL	S (IC	EC)(SPA	IN – (CATA	LON	IA)								
Refundable Contributions to Video Game Projects	Χ	Х	X													
Grants for Internationalization Projects for Companies and Entities in the Field of Video Games and Emerging Companies (Start-ups)	Х	X	X													
CNC (FRANCE)																
Support Fund for Immersive Creation					Х	Х		Х								
Support Fund for Videogames (FAJV)	Χ	Х		Х												
Internet Video Creators Fund (CNC Talent)									Χ	Х		Х	X	X		X
NEW ZEALAND FILM COMMISSION																
Whakawhanake Te Ao Niko	Χ				Х											
He Ara Development Fund	Χ				Х											
Unreal Engine Real-Time Short Challenge																
BRITISH FILM INSTITUTE																
Development Fund					Х											
Production Fund						Х										
Completion Fund						Х										
BFI Short Form Animation Fund						Х										
UK Global Screen Fund	Х	Х	Х													
EUROPEAN UNION																
Creative Europe	Χ				X		X									

In general, Australia stands out among the five countries covered, since Screen Australia supports all three types of new content through the deployment of seven programs aimed at them. The same is true of the CNC in France, which has three programs to support content in the four categories of content examined in this section. In New Zealand and the United Kingdom, the NZFC and the BFI support video games and extended reality content, but do not currently appear to have funds to support content for free video sharing platforms or social networks. As for Spain, it has several programs aimed at both video games and other forms of digital creation, including extended reality.

The next sections present examples of support for each of the three new types of content. Each section ends with a table summarizing the programs identified, the amounts allocated and the number of projects supported for a given period.

4.1 VIDEO GAMES

The agencies in Australia, France, New Zealand, Spain and the United Kingdom administer aid to support video games. The NZFC's support focuses on development, Screen Australia's support focuses on production, while the BFI focuses on development, production, distribution and marketing. The support offered by the CNC is the most versatile, since it covers several stages of the video game creation and marketing process. Spain's support targets the pre-production, production and distribution of video games. Finally, it should be noted that support for video games is also provided by the European Union.

New Zealand

The <u>Whakawhanake Te Ao Niko</u> - <u>Interactive Development Fund</u> supports the development of original interactive content concepts, including video games (but also extended reality). Projects can be scripted and directed, or they can be emergent in nature (with the user controlling the narrative). Content can be disseminated on any platform (online, console, PC, etc.). This fund supports the development of the original intellectual property of the applicant; however, it does not support projects that have been commissioned or where a third party holds a controlling share of the rights. Applicants may be companies either in the video game or audiovisual sector.

Australia

The <u>Games: Expansion Pack</u> program aims to help Australian game studios increase the quality of their games and transition into businesses of scale that can compete in the global market. Projects can be for any video game platform, with the primary goal being to fund the creation of new titles. Applications for the live ops development of existing games may also be eligible. The program is primarily intended for emerging and small to medium-sized independent game studios.

United Kingdom

The <u>UK Global Screen Fund</u> is also worth mentioning as it is a more general program that supports various types of content. The fund is designed to stimulate the development and production of projects (films, series, documentaries, animation content and narrative and interactive video games) with international appeal, to support the global distribution of British content and to encourage collaboration with international companies. The fund is open to UK independent companies registered and administered in the UK and has three strands, one of which focuses on narrative and interactive video games. Specifically, the <u>International Business Development</u> strand provides financial support for business strategies that drive international growth and intellectual property development for eligible companies.

Spain (and Catalonia)

The Aid for the Promotion of the Video Game Sector and Other Forms of Digital Creation of the Sub-directorate general for the Promotion of Cultural Industries (Ministry of Culture and Sport) aims to support video game projects, distributed on existing channels (PC, consoles, mobiles, TV or distribution platforms) or developed for emerging industries (serious game; cloud gaming; wearables; industry 4.0; etc.). This program can also benefit other forms of digital creation, including extended reality content, podcasts, metaverse-oriented narrative experiences. In all cases, projects must have a cultural character and/or interest, which is determined by taking into account several criteria (see section 8). More specifically, the grants support the pre-production, production and distribution of video games (or other forms of digital creation). The objectives are multiple and include, in particular, improving the quality of the offer of video game companies and increasing the visibility of Spanish video games in the main international markets.

Catalonia also supports the production of video games. The <u>Refundable Contributions to Video Game Projects</u> support the development, production, publishing, distribution, marketing and dissemination of video games. The aid takes the form of "co-financing," which allows companies to receive funding for a cultural project.

France

The CNC's <u>Support Fund for Videogames</u> (FAJV) supports authors and creative enterprises in all phases of game development: writing, pre-production and production. The FAJV also supports professional events (professional days, trade shows, etc.). Although French companies are the primary beneficiaries of this aid, European companies may also have access to it, provided that the project (more specifically the game design document) is produced in French. Originality, creativity and innovation are the main criteria for awarding the funds, which supports around 100 projects each year. The aid is conditional on the studio developing the game retaining its intellectual property rights.

European Union

Within the framework of the "content" cluster of the MEDIA strand of its Creative Europe program, the European Commission supports, among other things, the development of video games, with the objective of improving the capacities of producers and making the European industry more competitive on the international scene. Support is aimed at the "development of works and prototypes of interactive narrative storytelling with original content and/or quality gameplay intended for production and global commercial exploitation via PCs, consoles, mobile devices, tablets, smart phones and other technologies." In addition, the European recovery plan "NextGenerationEU" launched in 2020 aims to respond to the economic and social consequences of the pandemic, and thus revive Europe by making it greener, more digital and healthier. As such, EU member states can receive funding to support specific measures in their territories. Thanks to this plan, Spain, for example, has been able to increase the amount of its Aid for the promotion of the video game sector and other forms of digital creation to 8 million for the year 2023.

TABLE 3 - Examples of video game support programs

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS SUPPORTED*
Australia	Games: Expansion Pack	AU\$4.4M	31
Spain	Aid for the promotion of the video game sector and other forms of digital creation	**€1.0M	18
Spain-Catalonia	Refundable Contributions to Video Game Projects	N/A	N/A
France	Support Fund for Videogames	€4.2M	77
New Zealand	Whakawhanake Te Ao Niko – Interactive Development Fund	NZ\$45K	1
United Kingdom	UK Global Screen Fund	£2.1M	5
European Union	Creative Europe – Video games and immer- sive content development	N/A	N/A

^{*} As the fiscal years differ from one country to another, the data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia and New Zealand; year 2021 for Spain and France; April 2021 to March 2022 for the UK.

4.2 EXTENDED REALITY CONTENT AND INTERACTIVE STORYTELLING

Several programs in the countries covered are designed to fund extended reality works. Four programs administered by Screen Australia provide funding for the development and production of this type of content. The BFI also administers four funds, covering various stages of project development. The creation of this type of content is also supported by New Zealand (notably through the *Whakawhanake Te Ao Niko* – Interactive Development Fund described in section 4.1), France, Spain and the European Union (through the *Creative Europe* program also described in section 4.1). Some of the programs targeting extended reality content are discussed in more detail below.

^{**} In 2023, the funding will be €8M; financing will come in part from the Next Generation EU.

Australia

The <u>Screen Story Development Fund</u>: <u>Generate</u> and <u>Premium</u> program enables Screen Australia to support creators in the development of drama content, including extended reality content. The program also aims to help these creators capitalize on current or emerging digital platforms and grow their audience. Funds may be awarded to Australian individuals or teams whose project rights are controlled by the writer, director or producer. The program has two funds: the Generate Fund supports lower budget projects with an emphasis on new and emerging talent or experienced talent wanting to take creative risks; the Premium Fund supports higher budget projects by experienced teams who have already achieved commercial or critical success and are looking to take on larger projects.

Screen Australia also administers the Online Production program for the production of scripted children's projects and documentaries that push the envelope of traditional storytelling. It supports lower budget productions. The project submitted must be a series (e.g., a YouTube series or extended reality content intended to be accessed by the public via a screen). If the project is to be broadcast on television, it must also be distributed on at least one other digital media platform. The program also targets feature-length projects, provided that applicants have a significant existing social media audience (a channel with more than 100,000 subscribers or a video with more than one million views on a channel with more than 25,000 subscribers). In addition, the platform must be a central element of the project's distribution plan.

United Kingdom

The BFI funds fiction or animation works of at least 60 minutes in length or fiction projects in immersive media. The <u>Development Fund</u>, the <u>Production Fund</u> and the <u>Completion Fund</u> each support a different stage of the creation of this type of content (development, production and post-production/finishing). These funds benefit companies registered and administered in the UK. It should be noted that all three funds are currently being reviewed to take into account the new objectives set out in the Screen Culture 2033 strategy. In particular, the BFI wants to broaden its scope of intervention to support new types of content such as video games.

France

The Support Fund for Immersive Creation, which replaces the Support Fund for Digital Experiences and the Support Scheme for Artistic and Multimedia Creation (DICRéAM) since 2022, aims to support innovative audiovisual works based on an immersive creation approach. Multidisciplinary works are also eligible, provided they have a strong audiovisual component. Content for social networks whose primary distributor is not an on-demand audiovisual media service is also eligible. The fund aims to encourage the exploration of new digital writing and to attract new talent; to reinvent the relationship with the public and to extend dissemination opportunities; and also to promote the artistic and technological innovation capacity of French studios and talent on the international scene. Aid can be provided for several phases of a project, including writing, pre-production and production. The Fund is complemented by an aid to collective operations whose objective is to finance information and promotional activities intended for the entire profession. This may include, for example, study days, professional days, festivals of national or international scope, organized by companies or associations in the immersive creation sector.

TABLE 4 - Examples of programs supporting the creation of extended reality content

COUNTRY		PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS SUPPORTED*
Australia		evelopment Fund: Generate and Online/Interactive projects)	AU\$0.2 M	7
	(Online Production	AU\$7.8 M	50
F	Support Fund for Immersive	Support Fund for Digital Experiences (until 2021)	€2.5M	62
France	Creation (since 2022)	Support Fund for Artistic and Multimedia Creation (DICRéAM) (until 2021)	€0.9M	101
United Kingdom	UK	Global Screen Fund	N/A	N/A

^{*} As the fiscal years differ from one country to another, the data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia; year 2021 for France; April 2021 to March 2022 for the UK.

4.3 CONTENT INTENDED FOR VIDEO SHARING PLATFORMS AND/OR SOCIAL NETWORKS

Australia stands out from the other countries in this study because of three funds administered by Screen Australia that support content for video sharing platforms or social networks such as TikTok or Instagram. One of these funds, the Instagram Nations Creators Program, is aimed at supporting Indigenous talent and will therefore be discussed in more detail in section 9; another of these funds is administered as part of the Online Production program described above. In France, the CNC administers a fund to support the creation of some of the content covered in this section.

Australia

The <u>Skip Ahead</u> program is a joint initiative of Screen Australia and Google Australia. It aims to help a new generation of online storytellers to expand their vision and ambition, and develop original Australian narrative content specifically for global online audiences. Specifically, the program supports the development of new content for the YouTube platform, such as a series of six by five minute episodes. Funding is available for scripted projects of any kind; however, projects must not be "how-to" programs or intended as advertising or marketing material. To be eligible, the applicant – creator or creative team – must have a YouTube channel with more than 25,000 subscribers, or a maximum of two YouTube channels with a combined subscriber base of 40,000 subscribers, or a YouTube video that has reached a minimum of 1 million views on a channel with at least 10,000 subscribers.

France

The Internet Video Creators Fund (CNC Talent) is dedicated to first-run original French-language projects for free distribution on the Internet. Its objective is to renew creation on the Internet through the detection of new talent and the search for new forms of writing. It therefore supports creators in taking risks, but also accompanies them at key moments of their professionalization and structuring. The fund includes two selective aid schemes:

- The aid for creation is aimed at video creators (individuals or companies) and is intended to support projects for original French-language works in all formats (short, medium and feature films, web series, etc.) and all genres (fiction, documentary, docu-fiction, vlogs, tutorials, etc.), with scripting work. The applicant must have at least 10,000 subscribers or have been selected or rewarded in a festival;
- The aid for the editorialization of channels aims at structuring production entities. The targeted channels are those that present a set of works around a theme, a concept or a person, and that are made available to the public on a digital platform. The aid targets video creators with a minimum of 50,000 subscribers. The project leader is required to have a strategy for the existence of the channel, i.e. the recurrent publication of content over a given period of time with a broadcasting schedule. This aid is intended for existing or planned channels broadcasting original French videos of artistic and cultural interest of all kinds (fiction, documentary, docu-fiction, vlogs, tutorials, etc.), with an emphasis on writing and an intense need for technical resources.

Only free platforms are eligible (TikTok, Instagram, Facebook, Twitch, Snapchat, Arte.TV, France.tv Slash, KuB, etc.) and it must be a first exhibition window. In addition, the CNC has a CNC Talent YouTube channel on which some of the funded content is published. The CNC Talent program also offers professionalization grants that help creators write and develop a project (in residence or in a setting of their choice). The CNC also has partnerships with some thirty festivals where it awards grants to professionalize web creators. Some festivals, such as the Clermont-Ferrand short film festival, have opened a "pop-up" section dedicated to short films from the web. YouTube and CNC Talent endow the prizes awarded.

Finally, the CNC also offers authors the opportunity to meet professionals, participate in workshops, Masterclasses, etc. at festivals such as Cannes and Séries Mania. The idea of the CNC Talent program is to offer both financial support and coaching to creators, particularly when they are moving from one genre to another (short to feature film, for example).

TABLE 5 – Examples of support programs for content intended for video sharing platforms or social networks

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS Supported*
Australia	Skip Ahead	AU\$0.6M	5
Posses	Internet Video Creators Fund – Aid for creation	€1.7M	72
France	Internet Video Creators Fund - Aid for the editorialization of channels	€0.6M	12

^{*} As the fiscal years are different from one country to another, the data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia; year 2021 for France.



The reform movement described in section 3 has also led the various relevant entities to deploy support aimed more generally at fostering the presence of national content in the digital environment. In addition to the programs for the creation of new types of content (presented in section 4), initiatives have more broadly targeted all audiovisual content that can be made accessible through digital technologies.

This section provides examples of such initiatives by grouping them into four categories: A. aid aimed at promoting digital content in the international market; B. aid promoting diversity of online content; C. aid aimed at stimulating new forms of partnerships with digital actors; and D. aid for companies to strengthen their digital content production capacities. It should be noted that programs specifically targeting Indigenous content are presented in section 9. Each section ends with a table summarizing the programs identified, the amounts allocated and the number of projects supported.

5.1 AID AIMED AT PROMOTING DIGITAL CONTENT ON THE INTERNATIONAL MARKET

Australia

Screen Australia administers the International Finance Fund, which aims to support Australian projects with a very high level of global appeal. Specifically, the objective is to assist applicants in developing materials and a pitching strategy to attract international funding and partnerships. The fund is open to market-ready, long-form Australian drama and documentary projects that have received development funding from an independent, international or Australian business partner with a proven track record in similar projects. This partner may be a commissioning platform (but also a local or international distributor or a production studio). In all cases, the applicant must have control of the intellectual property rights and meaningful creative control of the project. The project must be bold, ambitious and have universal appeal.

France

The Selective Platforms Fund (FSP) was an experimental and temporary project of the CNC aimed at supporting the independent production of French audiovisual works pre-financed exclusively by non-European platforms. The beneficiaries could therefore be independent French delegated production companies that work with a platform. This fund was presented as the first step in the integration of non-European platforms into the CNC's financial aid system by establishing the same rules of the game for all players in the sector. In effect only from 2021 to 2022, the fund was initially set up pending the opening of the CNC's automatic production support scheme to producers who collaborate with platforms. Since December 2022, these producers can now benefit from the CNC's automatic production support in the same way as those working with television channels, for example. In this case, it is not a matter of supporting the platforms directly but of supporting the producers/ authors who collaborate with them.

In addition, since 2021, the CNC has a <u>department of attractiveness</u>, a major strategic issue for the Center: the development of platforms has led to an explosion in the volume of productions; moreover, these platforms now participate in supporting national creation. This department was created following the integration of the national film commission, Film France, into the CNC. Its mission is to promote the international attractiveness of France, and in particular filming and post-production in the country.

New Zealand

The <u>Premium Productions for International Audiences Fund</u> is no longer in effect, but is still interesting to examine because of some of its features. Created to help the audiovisual sector recover from the impacts of COVID-19, it was intended to support high-quality productions telling New Zealand stories for global audiences. A collaboration between the NZFC, the government's independent funding agency NZ On Air and the government agency responsible for promoting Māori language and culture Te Māngai Pāho, it targeted New Zealand producers (including co-productions). The project (feature film, single episode or TV series) had to contain New Zealand content (although there was no minimum requirement). The applicant had to demonstrate that the majority of the filming would be completed in New Zealand and that the production budget had a minimum of 10% private international investment, which could come from sales agents, distributors or streaming services outside New Zealand. In addition, where the feature film was made in collaboration with an international partner distributing its content online only, the rights for domestic theatrical release had to be reserved or committed. In addition, feature films required a commitment from one or more local or international distributors; for TV series, a commitment from a broadcaster or streaming platform with a presence in New Zealand was required. Preference was given to projects with a plan for discoverability and reaching New Zealand and global audiences.

United Kingdom

The <u>UK Global Screen Fund</u> is a three-year program designed to boost the UK's international competitiveness. It is divided into several strands, two of which focus on the digital environment:

- The International Co-Production strand supports internationally co-produced feature films or TV projects. All projects must have strong export potential and be able to demonstrate the potential to generate revenue for the UK producer. This strand is open to independent UK producers with demonstrable production experience. The project must have at least 60% of the overall finance secured (in addition to any prospective contribution from this strand and UK tax relief) or have already secured at least one other source of UK funding (in addition to any prospective contribution from this strand and UK tax relief). This funding may come from a video-on-demand platform, provided that the platform is not acquiring worldwide rights on a buyout basis.
- The <u>International Business Development</u> strand supports the development of UK businesses in the audiovisual sector that generate revenue through export and international expansion. Eligible companies can apply for funding using one of two tracks: the General Track or Film Transformation Track. Film Transformation aims to address the challenges facing businesses, such as the emergence of new technologies and the proliferation of non-traditional distribution channels.

Spain (and Catalonia)

The Aid for Cultural Action and Promotion offered by the Sub-directorate general for the Promotion of Cultural Industries (Ministry of Culture and Sport), is intended to promote activities that contribute to the creation of cultural content, and to modernize and professionalize the Spanish cultural sector. Among other things, it aims to stimulate the use of new technologies in the creation and dissemination of content, to increase the professionalization of the cultural and creative industries and their capacity to generate employment, and above all, to promote the internationalization of Spanish culture and its inclusion in European networks of cultural offerings. Beneficiaries must be legal entities of Spanish nationality or of any member state of the European Union or a signatory state of the European Economic Area Agreement. Legal entities may not be for-profit and must have their tax residence in Spain.

In Catalonia, the ICEC offers <u>Grants for Internationalization Projects for Companies and Entities in the Field of Video Games and Emerging Companies (Start-ups)</u>. These grants specifically benefit companies and entities that contribute to the presence of interactive digital cultural products or services (applications, video games, platforms) abroad. The applicant must be domiciled in Spain, or in a member state of the European Union or associated with the European Economic Area and have an operational establishment in Spain.

European Union

As part of the "content" cluster of the MEDIA strand of its Creative Europe program, the European Commission has launched in 2022 a <u>call for proposals to support audiovisual and online content</u>. This call aims more specifically to "increase the capacity of audiovisual producers to develop and produce strong projects with significant potential to circulate throughout Europe and beyond, and to facilitate European and international co-productions within the television and online sector." The objective is, among other things, to support the production of high quality drama, animation and documentary films intended for linear and non-linear broadcasting, including on digital platforms.

TABLE 6 - Examples of programs aimed at promoting digital content on the international market

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS Supported*
Australia	International Finance Fund	AU\$56k	4
Spain	Aid for Cultural Action and Promotion	€2.0M	86
Spain-Catalonia	Grants for Internationalization Projects for Companies and Entities in the Field of Video Games and Emerging Companies (Start-ups)	N/A	N/A
France	France Selective Platforms Fund		3
New Zealand	New Zealand Premium Productions for International Audiences Fund		13
United Kingdom UK Global Screen Fund		£5M	66
European Union	Call for proposals to support audiovisual and online content	N/A (call launched in 2022)	

^{*} As fiscal years differ from country to country, data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia and New Zealand; year 2021 for Spain, France and the European Union; April 2021 to March 2022 for the United Kingdom.

5.2 AID PROMOTING DIVERSITY OF NATIONAL CONTENT ONLINE

Australia

Screen Australia administers the <u>General Drama Production</u> et <u>Children's Program Production</u> funds, which target productions made primarily for broadcast, subscription television and video-on-demand platforms. This excludes content intended for cinema that qualifies for the 40% Producer Offset (see section 7). In addition, for the Children's Program Production fund, the primary audience must be children. In all instances, Screen Australia will not fund more than 40% of the total budget for drama programs and 45% for children's programs (including the Producer Offset), except in exceptional circumstances. Finally, at the time of application, the project must be associated with a partner such as a broadcaster or a subscription video-on-demand platform. As an example, Screen Australia has supported six episodes of the North Shore series in 2021-2022, which will be available on Paramount +.

<u>Digital Originals</u> is a joint initiative between Screen Australia, broadcaster SBS and NITV that funds the development of innovative series for both platforms. This initiative is designed to support creators who are underrepresented in the audiovisual sector, including First Nations, people with disability, women, LGBTIQ+ people and those who are located in regional and remote areas. The program also includes a training component: for example, in previous editions, 10-12 teams were selected to participate in a workshop organized by the three partners on short story writing skills.

France

The <u>Selective Support for Video-on-demand Broadcasting</u> (also known as Selective Support for the Editorial Program (PGE VàD)) is an extension of the selective support for physical video and aims to support and structure the development of the VOD market. The beneficiary platforms are generally specialized or niche. The program is aimed at two categories of beneficiaries:

- Rights holders: this aid can be requested by a structure for the dissemination, editorialization and promotion of a catalog of at least 4 eligible works, for dissemination on a minimum of 2 VOD services. Eligible structures are cinematographic and audiovisual production companies, companies that hold the rights to exploit cinematographic or audiovisual works on on-demand media services and companies that hold marketing mandates for the exploitation of cinematographic or audiovisual works on on-demand media services. These companies must be established in France. Moreover, their catalog must be composed of French and European cinematographic and audiovisual works, accessible in French (French version and/or original version with French subtitles). Several evaluation criteria are set out, including accessibility to persons with a disability (subtitling for the deaf and hearing impaired, audio description for the blind and visually impaired), as well as the prospects for marketing the catalog of works on VOD on on-demand media services.
- On-demand media services editors: this aid may be aimed at the dissemination, editorialization and promotion of one or more European cinematographic or audiovisual works or original French-language works, or at improving the technical or editorial quality of the proposed offer and the methods of access to the works, as well as at enhancing the offer. In order to benefit from this aid, on-demand media services must, in particular: provide users with services accessible in France; have a total worldwide turnover (excluding tax) resulting from the exploitation of cinematographic and audiovisual works on on-demand audiovisual media services of less than €200M or belong to a group of natural or legal persons whose total worldwide turnover (excluding tax) relating to this exploitation is less than €200M. In addition, their offer must include at least 20 cinematographic works or 20 audiovisual works and they must assume editorial responsibility for the choice of the service's content and determine how it is organized.

In addition, since 2014 and after several years of discussions with the European Commission, the CNC has set up an <u>Automatic Financial Assistance for Video-on-Demand Broadcasting</u> aimed in particular at encouraging the structuring of the VOD market. It covers all video-on-demand marketing methods, i.e., rental video, permanent download or subscription (except catch-up television). This aid allows the CNC to be consistent with its automatic support program for physical video. To benefit from this assistance, the service editor must be accessible in France, have a turnover of less than €2M, and broadcast films that are less than eight years old. This support is attributed to the service editor in proportion to its turnover on "generating cinematographic films."

TABLE 7 - Examples of programs promoting a diversity of national content online

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS SUPPORTED*
	General TV Drama Production	AU\$24M	26
Australia	Children's Program Production	AU\$6.1M	23
	Digital Originals	AU\$65k	4
F	Selective Support for Video-on-demand Broadcasting	€1.9M	41
France	Automatic Financial Assistance for Video-on-Demand Broadcasting	€2.0M	8

^{*} As the fiscal years are different from one country to another, the data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia; year 2021 for France.

5.3 AID AIMED AT STIMULATING NEW FORMS OF PARTNERSHIP WITH DIGITAL ACTORS

Australia

Screen Australia's <u>Commissioned Program</u> supports the production of documentaries made primarily for broadcasters or video-on-demand service platforms. Content must be both inspiring and have cultural value. This fund targets projects of at least 30 minutes in length that will be released by an Australian broadcaster or video-on-demand platform (confirmed pre-sale required). As an example, in 2020-2021, Screen Australia supported a first documentary commissioned by Netflix, Microworld Reef, and a documentary for Disney +, Shipwreck Hunters Australia. Foreign formats are eligible. Priority is given to original content.

United Kingdom

The BFI announced in the fall of 2022 that Netflix will become the first online streaming platform in the world to have its series and films preserved in the BFI National Archive collection. Initially, 26 series and films reflecting British society will be digitally preserved for generations to come. This initiative comes as Netflix celebrates its 10th anniversary in the UK. Over the next five years, hundreds of culturally significant British Netflix productions selected by BFI curators will be digitally preserved and become part of the British national collection.

France

The Knowledge and Cultures call for proposals (completed) aimed to promote creativity in the transmission of knowledge and culture in the digital environment. Implemented during the year 2021, this program was born from the observation of the appetite of young audiences for web content around culture and science, as well as works with an educational reach. It thus made it possible to support educational digital projects in all areas of knowledge, culture, science, the environment, sex education, sports and new technologies, including video games with an educational reach. The program was the result of a partnership with YouTube and Arte for web creation, and with Ubisoft and France Télévision for video games. It should be noted that some parts of the program are being redesigned and will be perpetuated within the CNC Talent program.

New Zealand

In collaboration with Epic Games and several New Zealand and Australian funding agencies, the NZFC is taking part in the <u>Unreal Engine Real-Time Short Film Challenge</u> program. The goal of the fund is to finance the production of animated short films – from 90 seconds to 5 minutes – using the Unreal Engine 5 software. This cutting-edge software is a real-time engine and editor that provides photorealistic rendering and more, allowing filmmakers to design and execute visual stories without leaving their homes.

TABLE 8 - Examples of programs aimed at stimulating new forms of partnership with digital actors

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS SUPPORTED*
Australia	Commissioned Program	AU\$7.2M	19
France	Knowledge and Cultures call for proposals	N/A	41
New Zealand	Unreal Engine Real-Time Short Film Challenge	NZ\$100k	2

^{*} As the fiscal years are different from one country to another, the data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia and New Zealand; year 2021 for France.

5.4 AID FOR COMPANIES TO STRENGTHEN THEIR DIGITAL CONTENT PRODUCTION CAPACITIES

Spain (and Catalonia)

The Aid for the Modernization et Innovation of the Cultural and Creative Industries of the Sub-directorate general for the Promotion of Cultural Industries (Ministry of Culture and Sport) is intended for several sectors including interactive arts, cinema, new multimedia creative genres, new media, radio and television. It aims to: promote investments in the creation and dissemination of digital cultural content; promote investments that allow for the modernization, innovation and technological development of the cultural and creative industries; create jobs, or; promote the revitalization, structuring and internationalization of cultural and creative industries to contribute to the image of Spain. The beneficiaries of this aid are professionals registered with the autonomous workers' regime and SMEs of Spanish nationality, of any member state of the European Union or of a signatory state of the European Economic Area Agreement and domiciled in Spain for tax purposes.

In Catalonia, the ICEC offers <u>Equity Culture Loans</u> for companies dedicated to the creation of interactive digital products or services related to culture. The program is intended for companies less than 4 years old domiciled in Catalonia or in a member state of the European Union or associated with the European Economic Area and with an operational establishment in Catalonia.

Australia

Screen Australia's Enterprise program is divided into two sub-programs, <u>Business</u> and <u>People</u>. The Business sub-program supports content creation companies. To be eligible, companies must be working in one of four identified areas of content: First Nations; Online content; Documentary; and Scripted. This program aims, among other things, to support companies so that they can benefit from commercial opportunities on different platforms and in different formats, or so that they can produce content of a quality that can meet national and global demand.

United Kingdom

As part of the <u>UK Global Screen Fund</u> program, the <u>International Business Development</u> strand (discussed in section 5.1) aims to support the development of UK companies in the audiovisual sector to generate more revenue through export and international expansion. Eligible companies can apply for funding through either the General Track or Film Transformation Track. This second track is designed to address the challenges faced by companies related to the emergence of new technologies and the proliferation of non-traditional distribution channels.

TABLE 9 - Examples of programs for companies to strengthen their digital content production capabilities

COUNTRY	PROGRAM	BUDGET*	PROJECTS SUPPORTED*
Australia	Enterprises - Business	N/A**	N/A**
Spain	Aid for the Modernization et Innovation of the Cultural and Creative Industries	€2.9M	116
Spain-Catalonia	Equity Culture Loans (for 4 years, 2015-2019)	€5.3M	54
United Kingdom	UK Global Screen Fund – International Business	£2.3M	29

^{*} As fiscal years differ from country, to country, data on budgets allocated and projects supported are for the following periods: July 2021 to June 2022 for Australia; year 2021 for Spain; April 2021 to March 2022 for the UK.

^{**} Since this is a new program, no data is currently available.

MAIN FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The financial resources administered by the relevant entities in the countries covered to support the creation and production of national content come from a variety of sources. Two models can be distinguished: according to the first model, the funding is based in particular on a contribution from certain actors in the value chain of the audiovisual sector, part of whose revenues go into funds to support the development of new content or directly support independent national production; according to the second model, the actors in the value chain are not directly involved and the financial resources administered by the relevant entities come from other sources.

The distinction is important when considering the impact of digital technologies on a state's audiovisual ecosystem and on its mechanisms for financing creation and production. The rise of digital technology in the field of cultural and creative industries – in particular the progressive shift of audiences from analog to digital broadcasting, but also the rise of content distribution platforms – may have led to a decrease in the revenues generated by traditional actors (in particular broadcasters) and therefore to a decrease in their contributions to support funds for the development of new content. Inequity has also arisen due to the emergence of new players, mainly content distribution platforms, which are not covered by the contribution requirements of the funding mechanisms, giving them a significant competitive advantage over traditional broadcasters. It is therefore not surprising that the countries concerned by this approach are the first to have acted to reform their funding mechanisms and impose requirements on platforms, including foreign platforms, to support national production. Among the five countries covered by this study, France and Spain in particular have had to adapt to the reforms carried out at the European Union level in the audiovisual sector, which affect funding mechanisms in particular.

The rise of digital technology in the field of cultural and creative industries – in particular the progressive shift of audiences from analog to digital broadcasting, but also the rise of content distribution platforms – may have led to a decrease in the revenues generated by traditional actors (in particular broadcasters) and therefore to a decrease in their contributions to support funds for the development of new content. Inequity has also arisen due to the emergence of new players, mainly content distribution platforms, which are not covered by the contribution requirements of the funding mechanisms, giving them a significant competitive advantage over traditional broadcasters.

The model of France, Spain and the European Union

In France, the CNC's funds, whose total budget announced for the year 2023 is expected to be €711M (an increase of 1.1% compared to 2022), are fed by the proceeds of three specific taxes: 1) cinema admissions (TSA); 2) providers and distributors of television services (TST); and 3) revenues generated by the distribution, free or paid, of physical or online video (TSV). It should be noted that the third tax has been revised several times since 2013, in particular in order to make the platforms contribute. The growing interest of audiences in the content provided by these platforms, combined with the impact of the pandemic and the periods of lockdown on the use of these platforms, explains the rapid increase in the revenue from this third tax, which has risen from €16.21M in 2017 and €34.2M in 2019, to €87.3M in 2020 and €111.6M in 2021. The proceeds of these three taxes are directly allocated to the institution's budget, thus allowing the downstream to finance the upstream, and thus dissemination to finance creation. Therefore, the tax on the value added created by broadcasters feeds the CNC's support funds. It should also be noted that other revenues are allocated to the CNC budget. This is notably the case for the amounts of financial penalties (pronounced by ARCOM) paid by television service providers who do not respect their obligations. In addition, there are other specific resources, such as withdrawals of commitments from previous years, reimbursements of aid, sponsorship revenues (for example, those received within the framework of heritage digitization), or earmarked revenues (i.e., amounts paid by partners within the framework of co-financing of certain measures, such as the Aid to Cinemas of the World). Finally, the financing of production has also been supported since 1985 by the Sociétés de financement de l'industrie cinématographique et de l'audiovisuel (SOFICA), investment companies designed to collect private funds dedicated exclusively to this industry.

In Spain, the ICAA's budget for the year 2023 is €186M. This budget is mainly fed by transfers of funds from the Spanish government and by the proceeds of taxes applied to various cultural goods and services (including the sale of tickets for shows). In addition, a significant portion of the ICAA's budget - €106M in 2023 - is transferred to the Film Protection Fund. Furthermore, in accordance with Article 117 of Act 13/2022 of July 7 on General Audiovisual Communication, this fund also receives financial contributions from audiovisual media service providers, who may alternatively choose to invest directly in the production of Spanish content, acquire the rights to exploit such content or contribute to the Fund for the Promotion of Cinematography and Audiovisual Works in Co-Official Languages other than Spanish. As its name suggests, this latter fund is intended to support and protect the use of the legally recognized languages of the Autonomous Communities in cinema and other audiovisual media. It encourages the development of projects, production, distribution, exploitation, restoration and promotion of works in these languages. In addition to possible contributions from audiovisual media service providers, as mentioned in Article 117, the fund is also fed by contributions from each official language Autonomous Community and the Spanish state. The full amount of the fund is then transferred to the competent bodies of these Autonomous Communities with official languages, which will manage it in accordance with their competences. Finally, the ICEC's repayable contributions and loans (€7.2M fund) in Catalonia are granted in collaboration with the Catalan Institute of Finance.

The contribution of foreign platforms to the financing of independent audiovisual production in France and Spain is authorized by the <u>EU Audiovisual Media Services Directive</u> (<u>AVMS Directive</u>), revised in 2018 in particular to take into account the impact of digital technologies on the sector. Article 13.2 of the Directive in fact states the possibility for EU member states to subject foreign video-on-demand platforms targeting their audiences to the same obligations to fund creation as service providers established on their territory.

For example, France has transposed the AVMS Directive into its national law through the Decree on On-Demand Audiovisual Media Services (SMAD Decree) and the order of December 21, 2020. As a result, foreign service providers targeting French audiences are now subject to the same rules for contributing to the financing of the production of cinematographic and audiovisual works as services under French jurisdiction. This decree thus modernizes the financing scheme for French (and European) creation, by integrating foreign platforms into the French media chronology (exhibition windows). Platforms (such as Netflix, Disney +, Amazon Prime Video) must therefore contribute at least 20% of their annual revenue in France to financing European and original French-language cinematographic works. This contribution must largely benefit independent production: 80% of their spending must be devoted to audiovisual production, including at least 2/3 to the development of independent production; the remaining 20% must be destined for film production, including at least 3/4 to the development of independent production. It should be noted that these rates apply if the platform offers films and series that are more than twelve months old after their theatrical release in France. However, they are increased to 25% of the turnover if the works offered on the platform are less than twelve months old (under the rules of media chronology). It should be pointed out that France (with Italy) has the highest contribution rates in the European Union.²⁸ Contributions are specified through agreements signed between on-demand audiovisual media services and ARCOM, which require broadcasters to enter into contracts with producers (delegated production), which means that none of the amounts invested go through the CNC.

TAXING FOREIGN PLATFORMS: THE IMPACT OF THE ENTRY INTO FORCE OF THE SMAD DECREE IN FRANCE

The entry into force of the SMAD decree significantly increases the amounts allocated to French audiovisual production. The CNC estimates that the participation of platforms induced by this new measure amounts to around $\[\in \] 250M$ per year, while the funding obligations of other French contributors amount to $\[\in \] 1.3$ billion per year. It should also be mentioned that from 2023 onwards, the platforms' contribution will be compensated by the possibility for them to access CNC funding for the productions they support, a measure whose cost is estimated at $\[\in \] 20M$. Until the end of 2022, the compensation was made through the Selective Platforms Fund (FSP), whose $\[\in \] 5.5M$ budget has been allocated to projects carried out by French delegated production companies acting on behalf of platforms.

Source: http://www.senat.fr/rap/l22-115-319/l22-115-3195.html

²⁸ In Spain, the obligation to pre-finance European audiovisual works is set at 5% of the annual revenues of audiovisual service providers (including foreign platforms) if their turnover is equal to or greater than 10Meuros, of which 70% must go to independent production.

The Australia, New Zealand and United Kingdom model

In contrast, the financial resources administered by Screen Australia, the NZFC, and the BFI are not dependent on the performance and contributions of companies in the audiovisual sector, whether traditional actors or platforms. While Screen Australia relies primarily on funding from the Australian government, the NZFC and the BFI rely primarily on funding from their own governments and revenue from their national lottery. In the case of the NZFC, its annual budget of approximately NZ\$69 million is effectively made up of government funds (Ministry for Culture and Heritage and Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment) and funds from the Lottery Grants Board, supplemented by revenues from films, interest and reserves. As for the BFI, £49M of the 2021-2022 budget of approximately £132M came from the National Lottery. The BFI also invests government money in specific projects, mainly from the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport and the Department for Education. Other revenues are generated directly by the BFI, including through fundraising and sponsorship. Screen Australia's annual budget of approximately AU\$100M consists primarily of a contribution from the Australian government, supplemented by other amounts, including interest on loans from the agency, royalties, and sales of goods and services.

Moreover, although Australia and the United Kingdom have very different funding models from France and other European countries with similar mechanisms, it is interesting to note that these two countries are considering reforming their systems in order to make platforms contribute to the funding of independent production. In Australia, as mentioned earlier (see section 3), the government is currently exploring the possibility of imposing investment obligations on the major platforms for the production of Australian content. In September 2020, the Ministry for the Department of Infrastructure, Transport, Regional Development, Communications and the Arts contacted Netflix, Amazon Prime, Disney+ and Stan to ask them to report to the Australian Communications and Media Authority (ACMA), on a voluntary basis, on their investment in and availability of Australian content on their platforms, leading to the release of the resulting data in August and December 2021. Then in February 2022, the Australian government began a new consultation with the release of the Streaming Services Reporting and Investment Scheme Discussion Paper, where it stated its intention to implement a reporting and investment scheme for online streaming services to support access to Australian content for Australian audiences. For selected platforms, this system could include a requirement to provide a report containing information about their expenditure on Australian content and the steps they are taking to make this content discoverable on their services. If a platform were to invest less than 5% of its gross Australian revenue on Australian content, the Minister for Communications could impose a formal investment requirement. The consultation closed on April 24, 2022.

With respect to the BFI, a report by a consulting firm published in 2022 – An Economic Review of UK Independent Film – highlights several challenges facing the independent film sector, including stagnating revenues from new modes of dissemination, rising film production costs and declining investment in independent production. One of the measures proposed to address these challenges is an increase in the contribution of large streaming services to the production of independent British films, either through a voluntary commitment or by imposing an obligation to contribute to a fund that these service providers could then access for the production of a film in the UK. In its response, however, the BFI said that in the short term it will continue discussions with the platforms to clarify their intentions regarding support for independent production, which will then allow it to consider how to address the gaps identified in the report.

TAX INCENTIVES

The countries covered by this study have developed various incentives to support audiovisual production in their territory, generally in the form of tax credits. New Zealand is an exception, since its incentives are more like grants designed to reimburse a portion of the expenditures incurred.

In the film industry, these incentives generally benefit so-called "national" productions (see on this point section 8), but some may also aim at attracting foreign productions. In this case, the incentives do not seem to set specific conditions relating to cultural content; rather, they aim to attract production teams, regardless of the nationality of the films produced. The incentives for the production of national and foreign cinematographic works are summarized in the table below.

TABLE 10 - Incentives for the production of national or foreign cinematographic works

CINEMA	NATIONAL WORKS (% OF EXPENDITURES)	FOREIGN WORKS (% OF EXPENDITURES)		
Australia	Tax credit: 30 to 40%	Tax credit: 16.5%		
Spain	Tax credit: 20 to 25%	Tax credit: 25 to 30%		
France	Tax credit: 25%	Tax credit: 30 to 40%		
New Zealand	Rebate (grant): 40%	Rebate (grant): 20%		
UK	Tax credit: 25%	_		

In addition to the production of cinematographic works, incentives are also available for the production of series, video games, animated films or other types of content, including content for platforms. Moreover, in all the countries covered, incentives are also available for co-produced works, provided that the conditions set out in the co-production agreements signed by these countries are respected. The following table shows the various types of content for which production is covered by various tax incentives, with the exception of New Zealand, which provides grants instead.

TABLE 11 - Content covered by the tax incentives

	FEATURE FILM	TV WORK	VIDEO GAME	ANIMATION & OTHERS	CO-PRODUCTION
Australia	J	J	√ (to come)	J	$\sqrt{}$
Spain	\int	\int			$\sqrt{}$
France	\int	\int	\int	\int	$\sqrt{}$
New Zealand	\int	\int		$\sqrt{}$	$\sqrt{}$
UK	\int	\int	\int	\int	\int

It is interesting to note that three of the five countries have implemented or are in the process of implementing tax incentives of 30 to 40% for the production of video games. As for the other types of content that can benefit from a tax incentive, they vary from one country to another. In Australia, for example, in addition to the 40% tax credit for the production of feature films for theatrical release, a 30% tax credit is available for the production of films intended for distribution on subscription video-on-demand. Australia also offers a 30% tax credit for Post, Digital and Visual Effects (PDV) Offset, which is available regardless of where the content is produced or where it is to be distributed (which includes content distributed on platforms). New Zealand also offers a Post, Digital and Visual Effect Grant, which provides a maximum grant of 20% of the costs incurred. In addition, incentives for the production of animated short films and television programs are available even when the content is intended for platforms such as Netflix, provided that a distribution agreement is in place to allow access to the production in New Zealand. In addition, the content must have been recorded, subtitled or dubbed in one of New Zealand's official languages.

In France, the 25% <u>audiovisual tax credit</u> applies not only to cinematographic works, but also to animated films. A 10% tax credit is also available for audiovisual adaptations of live performances. In addition, the CNC has another tax measure – different from the tax credits – which takes the form of investment companies designed to raise private funds: <u>SOFICAs</u>. These are created either on the initiative of film and audiovisual professionals or operators in the banking and financial sector. They are exclusively dedicated to the financing of audiovisual production and the distribution of films in theaters. In return for their investments, SOFICAs benefit from revenue rights on the various media used to exploit the works in which they have invested. Individuals who have subscribed to shares in one of these companies can benefit from a tax reduction of up to 48%. In Spain, incentives are specifically aimed at supporting SMEs in the cultural and creative sectors (audiovisual, music, video games, other cultural and creative industries). For example, <u>CREA SGR</u>, a non-profit financial institution, helps improve the financing of these SMEs by guaranteeing their operations with financial institutions.

A particularly novel measure introduced by New Zealand is also worth mentioning. Following an analysis conducted by the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment and the NZFC, producers who have reached the maximum threshold of expenditure on New Zealand productions eligible for the tax reduction may be invited to apply for an additional 5% reduction (5% Uplift). To obtain this benefit, the applicant must demonstrate that they are making a significant contribution to the country's economy (Significant Economic Benefits Test). The test takes into account the amount of expenditure incurred in the territory, the use of New Zealand personnel, production activities in New Zealand (e.g. location of filming or special effects creation) and other potential economic benefits (e.g. investment in industry infrastructure or knowledge transfer, or how New Zealand is promoted in promotional activities).

Finally, in all the countries covered by this study, access to the various tax incentives presented in this section is obviously subject to certain conditions. For example, there is a minimum amount of expenditure incurred in the territory of the country concerned, and the threshold may vary from one type of content to another, and from one country to another. In addition, deduction or reimbursement limits are generally set, either as a fixed maximum amount or as a maximum percentage of expenditures incurred, and the limits may also vary depending on the type of content produced. The following table outlines the general conditions set by the countries covered. Exceptions may be made for specific cases defined by the entities responsible for administering these incentives.

TABLE 12 - Main conditions for accessing tax incentives

	MINIMUM AMOUNT OF EXPENDITURE INCURRED IN THE TERRITORY	LIMITS
Australia	AU\$250K to AU\$1M	_
Spain	€200K to €1M	€10 to 20M, and up to 50% of enpenditures
France	€250K to €2M	1450K/minute, and up to €30M
New Zealand	NZ\$250K to NZ\$2.5M	NZ\$6M
UK	10 to 25% of total expenditures	80% of the expenditures incurred

NATIONAL CONTENT AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RETENTION STRATEGY

Access to several categories of financial aid (see sections 5 and 6) or tax benefits (see section 7) offered by the countries covered is often reserved for "national" works, which raises the question of the criteria used to define these works. These criteria have often been set for a long time, i.e. before the rise of digital technologies in the audiovisual field, and do not seem to be questioned for the moment, for instance to take into account the emergence of new types of content (with the exception of video games, which are subject to a cultural test, as in France and the United Kingdom) or the investment of platforms in the production of audiovisual content. Only New Zealand has publicly announced that it is conducting a review of investments in the audiovisual sector, which could lead to a strengthening of the cultural test so that a greater diversity of New Zealand content is reflected on screens (see section 3).

With regard to the definition of national content, New Zealand (for its grant program allowing for the reimbursement of part of the expenditures incurred) and the United Kingdom (for aid and tax credits) use a point system; France uses a linguistic criterion for the designation of works of original French expression and a point system for the designation of European works, as well as for the allocation of production aid for cinematographic works and tax credits (cultural scale); Australia has a list of criteria to be taken into account to define a national work, but their assessment is done on a discretionary basis; Spain uses two distinct classifications, the first based on the "cultural character of the work" and the second allowing the attribution of "Spanish nationality." The UK and New Zealand's extensive point system may reflect a stricter application of the criteria; in contrast, Screen Australia's analysis of what qualifies as an Australian work is more subjective. In France, the characterization of works of original French expression is based solely on a linguistic criterion, whereas its characterization as a European work - necessary for France to comply with the AVMS Directive - is based on a more elaborate point system. The cultural scales applied to production aid and tax credits focus mainly on the language used, the nationality of staff and the location of activities. In Spain, language is still an element to be taken into account, but the attribution of the cultural certificate requires a more refined analysis of several critieria related to the content of the work, whereas the Spanish nationality certificate rather refers to critieria related to the location of production and the nationality of the people involved.

In all cases, the definition of what constitutes national content juggles mainly with four types of criteria (some of which overlap in certain respects): the subject matter and/or the cultural content and/or the cultural contribution of the work; the economic spinoffs it generates; the place where the work was created and the expenditures incurred; the origin of the personnel involved. From one state to another, or from one aid program or incentive to another, the weight given to each category of criteria may vary. The following table provides an overview of the main criteria used by the five countries and the European Union, but does not fully reflect the detailed weighting used in some countries.

TABLE 13 - Overview of criteria for defining what constitutes national (or European) content

COUNTRIES	Australia	New Zealand	United Kingdom	Spain		France (Note 1)		European Union (Note 2)
Details		32 pts (minimum requirement of 20 pts)	35 pts (minimum requirement of 18 pts)	Cultural certificate	Certificate of Spanish nationality	Work of original French expression	Cultural scale (minimum requirement of 25/100 pts)	European work
Types of content targeted	Film, series, other format	Film, series, other format	Film, series, animation, children's program, video game (Note 3)	Film, series, animation documen- tary	Film, audiovisual work	Film, audiovisual work	Film, audiovisual work and video game (Note 4)	Audiovisual work
Subject matter / cultural content / cultural contribution		11 pts Min. 3 pts	22 pts	Min. of 2/10 criteria (Note 5)	All criteria must be met			
Place where the story of the film takes place	X	X Max 3 pts	X Max 4 pts	X				
Origin of the lead characters	Х	X Max 3 pts	X Max 4 pts					
Film based on a subject or expressions of the territory (ex. book)	X	X Max 3 pts	X Max 4 pts	X				
Original language of the film (official/ regional languages)			X Max 6 pts	X	X (prefe- rence)	Х	X Max 20 pts	
Targets young people				X				
Country of origin of the work/co-production							X	X
Reflection of the society, its interests, creativity, heritage, cultural diversity	X	X Max 2 pts	X Max 4 pts	X				

COUNTRIES	Australia	New Zealand	United Kingdom	Spain		irance Note 1)	European Union (Note 2)
Creative control by nationals or residents	X					X 9 pts (Note 6)	
Audience/ public engagement plan		X Max 3 pts					
Economic contribution		2pts					
Intellectual property	X	Х					
Contribution to the develop- ment of the industry	X	X					
Origin of funding/head- quarters and independence of the produ- cing company	X (Note 7)						X
Place of creation and expenditures		6 pts	5 pts				
Pre-production/ production/ principal photography (shooting locations)	X	X Max 2 pts	X Max 4 pts (Note 8)		X	X 5 pts	
Visual post- production, special effects and visual effects	X	X Max 2 pts			X	X Max 10.5 pts	
Audio post- production, music recording, voice recording	X	X 1 pt	X Max 1 pt		X		
Concept design and physical effects	X	X 1pt			X	X Max 4.5 pts	
Origin of personnel	* = very important	13 pts	8 pts		(Note 9)		(Note 9)

COUNTRIES	Australia	New Zealand	United Kingdom	Spain		France (Note 1)	
Director	X*	X Max 2 pts	X 1 pt	X (Note 10	1)	X 5 pts	
Scriptwriter, dialogue writer, other author	X*	X Max 2 pts	X 1 pt	X		X 5 pts	
Producer	X*	X Max 2 pts	X 1 pt	Х			
Composer		X 1 pt	X 1 pt	X		X 1 pt	
Lead actors/ participants	X*	X Max 2 pts	X 1 pt	Х		X Max 20 pts	X
Majority of cast	Х	X 1 pt	X 1 pt	Х			
Other key staff	Х	X Max 2 pts	X 1 pt	Х		X Max 20 pts (Note 11)	
Majority of crew	Х	X 1 pt	X 1 pt	X		X	

Notes

- (1) There is also a test set up by France to determine whether a work is European. The criteria are similar to those in the European Union column, with the addition of certain criteria concerning post-production and concept design and physical effects.
- $(2) \quad \text{Art 1 of the AVMS Directive 2010, each EU member state then specifies what it means by \textit{``European work.''}}$
- (3) The scoring varies from one content to another, but the criteria are similar.
- (4) Tax credits for national (including CNC production aid) and international productions (cinematographic works and audiovisual works fiction, animation and documentary) and video games are subject to a cultural scale. The cultural scale presented in the table is that for fictional cinematographic works, and is divided into five groups, namely: Language of filming, Production company and authors, Performers, Technicians and workers, and Filming and post-production. Similar criteria are used for the other types of scale, with scores varying according to the type of content.
- (5) To qualify, the two minimum criteria cannot be limited to the language of the work and the location of the story.
- (6) The extent to which there is recoupment and profit participation for Australian nationals or residents and the extent to which that is commensurate with ownership and; The extent to which copyrights ownerships resides with Autralians, in particular whether this is commensurate with the proportion of the budget provided by Australians.
- (7) Points are awarded if the film is produced by at least one production company that meets the following conditions: Be established in France; Have French or equivalent presidents, directors or managers, as well as the majority of their administrators; Be incorporated in the form of a business corporation with a minimum share capital of €45k, including a minimum share of €22.5k fully paid in money when their head office is located in France, and; Not be controlled by one or more natural or legal persons from non-European countries
- (8) Principal photography, special effects and visual effects are in the same category.
- (9) The criterion of the residence of the professionals involved in the production of the works is important. In Spain, the work's writing team (director, scriptwriter, director of photography and music composer); the actors and other participating artists; and all technical creative and other technical personnel must be at least 75% Spanish nationality or nationality of one of the other EU member states, states party to the European Economic Area agreement, or holders of a valid residence card or permit in Spain or one of these states. In France, the teams and technical services providers must essentially be composed/made of residents in one or more EU member states. In the definition of a European work in the AVMS Directive 2010, one of the criteria is that the work must be made essentially with the participation of authors and workers residing in one or more EU member states, or European third states party to the European Convention on Transfrontier Television of the Council of Europe.
- (10) Mandatory criterion.
- (11) Other key staff includes technicians and workers (e.g. production manager, director of photography, chief sound operator, mixer, etc.).

In the UK point system, for example, the criteria associated with the content of the work and its cultural contribution are largely dominant, accounting for 22 points out of a total of 35 points (a minimum of 18/35 points being required to qualify as a national work). In contrast, in the New Zealand point system used for expenditure grants, the ratios are relatively different, with only 11 points out of a total of 32 points targeting the cultural content of the production (a minimum of 20/32 points being required to qualify as a national work, which must however include a minimum of 3 points for cultural content). In addition, although the NZFC does not use the point system for its other aids, similar criteria are used to determine whether a work contains sufficient New Zealand elements. It is interesting to note that in its most recent review of investments in the audiovisual sector, the New Zealand government indicated its desire to revise the cultural test with a view to improving its cultural benefits, which could lead to the introduction of stronger criteria for cultural content and creative talent.

In Australia, the more flexible system for determining whether a work qualify as Australian is based on a number of criteria, including the subject matter of the work. It is considered that for a project to pass the Significant Australian Content (SAC) Test, Australians must be responsible for the project's core origination and the key creative contributors. This is particularly important when the film's copyright is held by a foreign entity.

In the case of France, when benefits are reserved for cinematographic and audiovisual works of original French expression, these must be works produced entirely or mainly in French or in a regional language used in France. Where benefits are granted to European cinematographic or audiovisual works, these works must originate from European Union member states or from European third countries parties to the European Convention on Transfrontier Television of the Council of Europe. In the latter case, conditions must be met, particularly with regard to the place of residence of the people involved in the production, the places where certain stages of the project are carried out, the location of the production company's head office, and the source of the main financial contributions. Furthermore, in the field of video games, the tax credits offered by France are based on a "cultural scale," i.e., a point system that makes it possible to assess the cultural nature of the game. To qualify for the tax credit, the game must score at least 12 points out of 20, which are divided into creation points and innovation points. Among the elements taken into account is a "heritage" criterion that refers to the source of inspiration and the European character of the game. The objective of the cultural scale is to favour projects that present a strong European identity, whether in the content, in the choice of languages or in the composition of the production team.

Finally, access to Spanish aid and tax incentives is based on two types of classification. ²⁹ Firstly, support for the production of feature films is subject to the issuance of a "cultural certificate," which is granted on the basis of compliance with criteria that relate exclusively to the content of the work, the language of the original version and the target audience. To obtain this certificate, at least two of the ten criteria must be met. Secondly, a "Spanish nationality certificate" can be granted to audiovisual works made by a production company from Spain or a company from another EU member state established in Spain, provided that certain conditions are met regarding the nationality of the people involved in the project (director, scriptwriter, actors, technical staff, etc.), the location of the shooting and the language of the original version of the project. This certificate allows a film or work to have Spanish nationality, a condition that must be met in order to receive ICAA grants.

²⁹ The Spanish nationality certificate and the cultural certificate are necessary to receive ICAA aid. To get tax benefits, Spanish productions must obtain both certificates, and foreign productions only the cultural certificate.

Moreover, the motivations leading to the determination of the various criteria for qualification as a national work are not always easy to identify. The tests or scales that give significant weight to the content of the work are certainly guided by cultural considerations (preservation of an identity, a language, a heritage, etc.). On the other hand, motivations that are not only cultural, but also economic, seem to lead to the setting of criteria relating to the place of filming or to the nationality of the persons involved in the production of the work. In the latter case, certain criteria could even be part of a strategy aimed at retaining intellectual property rights on the territory of the states concerned.

In Australia, for example, Screen Australia indicates that it wants to develop the Australian audiovisual ecosystem in a sustainable way, an objective that it intends to achieve not only through the aid granted, but also through its tax credit system (<u>Producer Offset</u>), one of the aims of which is to allow producers to retain shares in their works. In New Zealand, the New Zealand Screen Production Grant (<u>NZPSG</u>) requires applicants to have an equity share in the production (share of revenues or profits). Also, in general, the NZFC expects that the films it funds will be included in the catalog of films available for purchase on its video-on-demand platform NZ Film on Demand.

In the United Kingdom, some BFI programs also appear to have an IP retention objective; for example, the <u>UK Global Screen Fund</u> (International Business Development strand) (see sections 4 and 5) is dedicated to developing business strategies to create, acquire, and/or exploit IP and increase revenue, audiences, and profile for a work. The program is open to independent British companies with a track record in creating, acquiring, or exploiting intellectual property for various categories of work (feature films for theatrical and/or online release; series for video-on-demand services or other forms of online distribution; narrative video games for distribution on commercial digital platforms to generate revenue). The fund also seeks to address the geographic imbalance within the industry: for example, in its assessment, the BFI considers where the company is based and how the intellectual property the company creates, acquires or exploits reflects the culture and talent of Northern Ireland, Scotland, Wales and the English regions outside London.

Several CNC aid schemes also aim to ensure that intellectual property is retained in France. For example, the <u>Selective Platforms Fund (FSP)</u> provided for the protection of the line producer by specifying that the latter must retain the intellectual property on his work (see section 5). In the <u>field of video games</u>, the conditions for granting writing aid specify that the author must have all the rights, whereas the granting of production aid requires the development studio to retain the intellectual property rights to its game. If it is an international co-production, the French party must retain 50% of the intellectual property of the video game. Finally, in the field of digital creation, access to several CNC programs is conditional on the creator or beneficiary of the aid not being controlled by a non-European fund. This is the case for the <u>France 2030 La Grande fabrique de l'image call for proposals</u>, which is part of the France 2030 Investment Plan and aims to make France the European leader in filming and digital production. This program is aimed at any film, audiovisual or video game company with a project to invest in new production and training capacities. However, to be eligible, beneficiary companies must not be controlled by one or more natural or legal persons from countries outside the European Union for at least ten years.

DIVERSITY ISSUES

The administration of the various funds supporting the audiovisual sector cannot be done today without taking into consideration a multitude of issues related to diversity. In practice, these issues are taken into account through initiatives that vary according to the realities or priorities of each country. In Australia and New Zealand, great attention is paid to the objectives of promoting Indigenous cultural expressions and respecting the narrative sovereignty of the groups concerned, which influences not only the allocation of aid, but also the very structure of the agencies that administer it (9.1). In these two countries, but also in other countries, issues of linguistic diversity influence the criteria for the allocation of certain forms of support or the definition of national content (9.2). Moreover, the values or principles of equity, diversity and inclusion (EDI) guide – explicitly or implicitly, and to varying degrees – the deployment of initiatives or actions carried out to improve practices in the audiovisual sector of the countries covered (9.3).

9.1 INDIGENOUS CULTURAL EXPRESSIONS AND NARRATIVE SOVEREIGNTY

Despite very different linguistic realities, Australia and New Zealand have implemented similar measures to promote the cultural expressions of Indigenous communities within their borders.

Screen Australia has a First Nations Department (created in 1993) and programs specifically dedicated to First Nations. According to the agency, this structure and these programs have made it possible to train First Nations professionals in the audiovisual sector, to support works produced by these communities and to achieve a better representation of these communities within the industry. Current funding programs administered by Screen Australia include the development and production of films for theatrical release (First Nations Feature Development and Production), television series (First Nations TV Drama Development and Production) and documentaries (First Nations Documentary Development and Production) for distribution via an Australian broadcaster and/or online platform. Other programs, including First Nations Internships, First Nations Industry Support and First Nations Travel Grants, are designed to support professional development. The First Nations Department also provides support for specific initiatives. For example, the Instagram First Nations Creators Program aims to support Indigenous talent to amplify their voices on social media and create long-term career opportunities for First Nations digital content creators. Emerging Indigenous creators are selected to participate in a three-day professional training and mentoring program. Afterwards, creators are invited to create their own series of Reels (90-second Instagram videos). More generally, all programs administered by the First Nations Department have requirements for eligible recipients, such as a minimum number of First Nations creative team members. Screen Australia also released Pathways & Protocols: a filmmaker's quide to working with Indigenous people, culture and concepts in 2009, which aims to encourage the participation and representation of Indigenous communities in Australian productions.

With regard to New Zealand, the NZFC has specific programs aimed at the Māori. These are aimed at the development (He Ara Development Fund, Whakawhnakake Kiriata: Māori Film Development Funds, Tuhinga Reo Māori: Te Reo Māori Development Fund) and the production (He Pounamu Te Reo Māori Feature Film Initiative) of Māori and Pacific Island works in a variety of formats, including interactive or video game projects (for the development component). There are also programs aimed at training and skills development (Tautoko Tāngata - Māori Talent Development and Te Aupounamu Māori Screen Excellence Award). These programs include requirements for eligible recipients, such as a minimum number of people from Māori or Pacific Island communities on the creative team. Finally, it should be noted that the NZFC supported a first Indigenous co-production between Canada and New Zealand (Night Raiders) in 2021 and wishes to support more in the coming years.

Both the Australian and New Zealand agencies released a strategy targeting Indigenous cultural expressions in 2018. As part of the 25th anniversary of the First Nations Department, Screen Australia unveiled a strategy to promote First Nations content targeting five priorities: continuing to tell compelling Indigenous stories on screen that show their craft and embrace varied formats; identifying diverse Indigenous stories and filmmakers and supporting the development of storytelling craft; developing clear and sustainable pathways for Indigenous talent; facilitating communication and connection with other groups across the audiovisual sector; and ensuring that the voices of Indigenous storytellers and filmmakers remain relevant, heard, seen and valued. As for the NZFC, it was after 40 years of existence that its first Māori strategy, Te Rautaki Māori, was launched. The result of a consultation process with the Māori, the strategy has three main objectives: to promote authentic representation of Māori culture (moving away from stereotypes) and support high quality films led by Māori creative teams; to develop, in collaboration with Māori experts and advisors, protocols and guidelines for the industry to ensure fair representation of Māori culture; to support capacity building within the Māori film industry. In addition, for any project supported by the Commission, it is expected that the applicant will demonstrate clearly established Māori involvement in the elements or content of the project that involves them. The NZFC is currently working on an update to this strategy which may lead to it further promoting narrative sovereignty, as well as the creation of and respect for the intellectual property of Māori cultural expressions.

9.2 LINGUISTIC DIVERSITY

The Australian and New Zealand agencies also pay attention to Indigenous languages. With over 200 languages spoken in the country, representing linguistic diversity is a major challenge for Screen Australia. While the agency does not have a specific program dedicated to Indigenous language content, it does support projects in languages other than English through its various programs. For example, in collaboration with broadcaster SBS, the agency supported the drama series True Colours, which is partly filmed in the local language of an Indigenous community with English subtitles. In New Zealand, several NZFC programs support productions in the country's three official languages, Māori, English, and New Zealand Sign Language (Premium Productions of International Audiences Fund) or in Māori only (Whakawhanake Kiriat: Maori Film Development Funds and He Pounamu Te Reo Maori Feature Film Initiative). Translations into Māori and English must be included in the budget to ensure that the authentic essence of the film is captured and that the production can be sold and distributed in other countries (Terms of Trade, Budget section). In addition, closed captioning is now a requirement for streaming.

In the United Kingdom, programs allow for the support of content in languages other than English; however, in reality, it is primarily English-language content that is supported. Content in Indigenous languages recognized in the U.K. – Scots Gaelic, Welsh, Irish, Scottish, Ulster Scots, Cornish and British Sign Language – is better supported by regional funding bodies (e.g. Screen Scotland). The BFI's desire to ensure better representation of the regions in British audiovisual production could nevertheless lead it to support more content in these languages. Language is also one of the criteria taken into account in the scoring system for the certification of British films: points are awarded when the original dialogue is recorded in English, in a language of the European Economic Area or in an Indigenous minority language officially recognized by the UK.

The criteria for granting Spain's cultural certificate also include a criterion based on language. The original version of the work must be in one of the official languages of Spain (Spanish, Catalan, Basque, Galician) or, in the case of co-productions with foreign companies, one of the 24 official languages of the European Union. In addition, the Spanish autonomous regions may have their own program to support the production of content in their language. This is the case, for example, of the ICEC, which offers <u>Subsidies for the incorporation of the Catalan language in technological products and video games</u>.

For France, according to the definition of a cinematographic and audiovisual work of original French expression, these must be produced entirely or mainly in French or in a regional language used in France. However, there are exceptions. For example, the CNC Talent program can support videos produced in a language other than French, provided that they are subtitled. The tax credit for film can be used for fictional films based on an opera produced in the original language of the libretto, for documentaries produced in a language justified by the subject matter, or for fictional works with "strong visual effects." It is also possible to depart from the French or regional language rule if the production in a foreign language is justified by artistic reasons related to the script.

9.3 EQUITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION (EDI) PRINCIPLES

The approaches developed to promote EDI principles vary considerably from one country covered to another. Perhaps one of the initiatives that most explicitly reflects the promotion of EDI comes from the BFI. The BFI Diversity Standards aim to put the values of equity, diversity and inclusion at the center of the projects supported. They also aim to encourage behavioural change and the use of more inclusive practices in content creation, activity development and recruitment. The standards are divided into four categories: on-screen representation, themes and narratives; creative leadership and project team; industry access and opportunity; and audience development. The underrepresented groups covered by this policy are defined in the Equality Act 2010 based on a range of factors (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation). The BFI's diversity standards also address regional participation, socioeconomic background and caring responsibilities. In 2020 and 2021, these standards were reviewed and a new strategy will guide the BFI in how it funds the UK audiovisual sector from April 2023. The BFI is also working on a new set of diversity standards.

While promoting EDI is also a priority for Screen Australia to achieve greater representation of underrepresented groups, its approach differs from that of the BFI. Following the release of its <u>Genders Matters, Women</u> in the Australian Screen Industry report in 2015, Screen Australia announced a plan with the primary goal of accelerating efforts to address the gender imbalance in the Australian audiovisual sector. As a first step, women-only funding programs were announced (Gender Matters: Brilliant Stories, Brilliant Careers Funding, Better Deals, Attachments for Women Programs). Guidelines for some general programs were also adjusted to improve the proportion of women directors. The plan also included targets, revised in 2019, for 50% of key creative positions (directors, producers and writers) in Screen Australia-funded projects for development or production to be filled by women (these targets are expected to be revised soon to take into account developments in the sector). Screen Australia is also working on a new edition of its Seeing Ourselves: Reflections on Diversity in Australia TV Drama report (released in 2016) that will take a broader approach, looking at various age groups and urban and rural areas. In addition, inclusive storytelling is part of the criteria for evaluating applications for the various programs administered by Screen Australia. The agency also expects that the experience portrayed through storytelling and characters is reflected in the creative team. For Screen Australia, it is essential that the creative team has cultural authorship of the story so that the narrative can be authentic, reflecting another way of promoting the principles and values of EDI.

In addition, it is interesting to note that, beyond the underrepresented groups usually targeted by EDI actions, several of the countries covered are now paying attention to underrepresented neighborhoods, cities, regions or territories. This is the case for the United Kingdom and Australia mentioned earlier, but also for New Zealand and France.

In New Zealand, for example, the NZFC worked with the audiovisual sector to develop a <u>Diversity and Inclusion Strategy</u> for underrepresented groups. In addition to Māori and various cultural communities in New Zealand, regional communities – defined in this case as those outside the cities of Auckland and Wellington – were identified as underrepresented groups. The Strategy provides a roadmap and lays out the outcomes, actions, timeframes and targets for the NZFC. Initiatives within the strategy include providing career development opportunities for underrepresented filmmakers, shaping funding to support and redress gaps in representation, and integrating diversity and inclusion principles into all funding decisions.

In France, the CNC provides selective support for cinematographic works of interest to overseas cultures (Guadeloupe, French Guiana, Martinique, Reunion, Mayotte and Saint-Pierre-et-Miquelon). The works supported must foster a better knowledge of these French territorial collectivities, contribute to their enhancement to a wide audience, to the promotion of their cultural expressions or to the training of their residents in cinematographic expression and in film professions. In addition, the Commission Images de la diversité (Images of Diversity Commission) was created in 2007 by the Agence nationale de la cohésion des territoires (National Agency for Territorial Cohesion) (ANCT) and the CNC in order to strengthen public actions to promote the image of diversity in French society. The "Images of Diversity" Fund, managed jointly by these two entities, supports the creation, production and distribution of cinematographic, audiovisual and multimedia works and video games that contribute to a more accurate representation of the French reality and its components. This aid also aims to encourage the emergence of new forms of writing and new talent, particularly from priority neighbourhoods of the city policy. This fund provides additional aid that can cover all stages of creation and exhibition of the selected works (support for preparation (writing, development), production, and dissemination (distribution, DVD publishing)). The supported works must be mainly produced in France. In addition, these works must: represent all immigrant populations and populations of immigrant origin and from the French overseas territories who make up French society, and in particular those who live in the priority neighbourhoods of the city policy; represent the current realities, history and memory in France of immigrant populations and population from immigrant origin and from French overseas collectivities, as well as those living in the priority neighbourhoods of the city policy located in urban areas, and; contribute to equality between women and men, to the integration policy and to the fight against discrimination of which the inhabitants of disadvantaged areas are victims. The CNC wishes to reform this fund in order to extend it to other types of projects.

Screen Australia also runs a number of programs that target groups from underrepresented regions. The Skip Ahead program (see section 4.3) in partnership with Google Australia aims to ensure that the stories being told and those telling them reflect the diversity of people and experiences from around Australia. The Curious Australia program is another relevant example. In collaboration with several Australian state and territory agencies, as well as SBS and NITV, this program funds the production of innovative 22-minute documentaries for these platforms. It supports practitioners from underrepresented backgrounds, including people from underrepresented regions or diverse socioeconomic backgrounds.

Finally, there are other types of actions that promote EDI principles. These may include measures to address the composition of selection committees. In New Zealand, for the allocation of development and production funds, the NZFC uses a range of external experts, both local and international, with different specializations in the audiovisual sector. An additional assessor with appropriate knowledge and/or experience associated with an underrepresented community may be engaged to provide insight into certain aspects of the project. In France, the CNC's grant selection committees must have equal representation – in particular, the experts appointed must be of all ages and come from various regions of France – in order to achieve a certain balance in the selection of successful projects. In addition to the CNC's evaluation criteria, the members of these committees may decide to fund a particular content for additional reasons (inclusion, diversity of production teams, etc.).

Additional aids may also be granted to encourage a fairer representation of certain groups. In France, the CNC has set up a "parity bonus" that allows it to increase by 15% the aid it offers to a film if it reserves certain key positions for women. It is also considering a measure to promote their access to the audiovisual professions in the field of television. In addition, the CNC has an Observatoire de la parité (Observatory of Parity) that allows it to measure the place of women in the various sectors of the industry. In Spain, the ICAA promotes as well various measures to encourage parity, and the evaluation criteria for grants include elements related to gender equality. For example, production aid includes <u>credit reserves (35%) for projects by female directors</u>. A "Specially Recommended for the Promotion of Gender Equality" award has also been given since 2011.

The following table outlines the main criteria used by the covered countries to implement policies and measures to promote equity, diversity and inclusion in the audiovisual sector.

TABLE 14 - Main EDI policy or measure implementation criteria

	Australia	New Zealand	United Kingdom	France	Spain
Women	Χ	X	X (sex)	X	X
Disability	Χ	X	X	X	X
Cultural, social and linguistic diversity (including nationality, ethnic origin, etc.)	X	X	X	X	
Regions, remote areas, regional or overseas communities, cities, priority neighbourhoods	X	X	Х	X	
LGBTI+, LGBTQAI+, sexual orientation, gender diversity	X	X	X		
Age	X (to come)	X	X		
First Nations/Indigenous Peoples	Χ	X			
Socioeconomic context			X		
Marriage and civil partnership			X		
Pregnancy and maternity			X		
Caring responsibility (for example, caregivers)			X		
Religion or belief			X		

THIGHLIGHTS

After a comparative analysis of the approaches developed in the countries covered by this study - Australia, Spain (and Catalonia), France, New Zealand and the United Kingdom - to support audiovisual production and its outreach in the digital environment, the **following key findings** stand out:



All five countries have undertaken reforms

to adapt their financial support programs to the challenges and opportunities generated by digital technologies, a process that will continue over the next few years.



Beyond films and series, financial aid supports new types of content in the digital environment, in particular video games, extended reality content and content for free video sharing platforms or social networks.



Other financial support programs aim more generally to promote the presence of a diversity of national content in the digital environment, to stimulate new forms of partnership with digital actors or to strengthen the capacity of companies to produce competitive digital content on the international market.



The tax incentives offered by the countries covered have also evolved to take into account the specificities of the digital environment and the new types of content.



The criteria for defining national content are based on a set of both economic and cultural considerations, and are often part of strategies for retaining intellectual property rights in the territory of the countries concerned.



A variety of diversity issues are increasingly influencing the way in which aid is deployed, resulting in a growing focus on Indigenous cultural expressions, linguistic diversity and EDI principles.

Finally, financial support for the creation and production of national cultural content is a measure that can contribute to reaching the objectives of the *Convention on the Protection and Promotion of the Diversity of Cultural Expressions* in the digital environment, a treaty to which Canada is party.

In addition, this type of support is **consistent with Canada's international commitments under its free trade agreements**, including the the CUSMA between Canada, the United States and Mexico.

MAIN DOCUMENTARY SOURCES

AUSTRALIA

Reports/documents

Australian Communications and Media Authority and Screen Australia, Supporting Australian stories on our screens - Option Paper, 2020, https://www.infrastructure.gov.au/sites/default/files/documents/supporting-australian-stories-on-our-screens-options-paper.pdf

Commonwealth of Australia, Media Reform Green Paper: Modernising television regulation in Australia, 2020, Media reform green paper (infrastructure.gov.au)

Commonwealth of Australia, Streaming Services Reporting and Investment Scheme Discussion Paper, 2022, apo-nid316658.pdf

Deloitte, What are our stories worth? Measuring the economic and cultural value of Australia's screen sector, Screen Australia, 2016, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/13dceb59-0a88-432f-adb3-958fc-c04e6bb/Deloitte-Access-Economics-Screen-Currency.pdf

Olsberg-SPI, Measuring the Cultural Value of Australia's Screen Sector, 2016, https://www.screenaustralia.gov. au/getmedia/1dce395e-a482-42d1-b5a9-47bb6307f868/Screen-Currency-Olsberg-SPI-Nov2016.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2008-2009, 2009, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getme-dia/5c43905b-da1d-43ea-a237-8b51c9b6c1c4/SA-Annual-Report-2008-2009.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2009-2010, 2010, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/3339e22e-7849-472b-bc14-fd63c1ac65f7/SA-Annual-Report-2009-2010.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2010-2011, 2011, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/004bc911-3d36-40e8-8577-9176c5e199b6/SA-Annual-Report-2010-2011.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2011-2012, 2012, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/27adc-d1a-8f12-4758-bfb9-c1e7cb572ae5/SA-Annual-Report-2011-2012.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2012-2013, 2013, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/4d2db2f5-bdea-4b29-881a-b0e79b6e4663/SA-Annual-Report-2012-2013.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2013-2014, 2014, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/96f2172f-95a1-448d-9c59-68a40ccdac4c/SA-Annual-Report-2013-2014.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2014-2015, 2015, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/85c10352-62eb-44fa-8d79-8a3423bf9ce1/SA-Annual-Report-2014-2015.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2015-2016, 2016, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/ed3c7529-70d1-499b-bbc9-63b4659d514e/SA-Annual-Report-2015-2016.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2016-2017, 2017, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/aeb0ff70-226e-4b35-929b-5a599db5ac3f/SA-Annual-Report-2016-2017.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2017-2018, 2018, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/dd9d62fc-1c03-4a92-ac0d-a9541cc27818/SA-Annual-Report-2017-2018.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2018-2019, 2019, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/98d29914-2704-4c9b-aab2-ae6fc9ee0b68/SA-Annual-Report-2018-2019.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2019-2020, 2020, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/29a3dc12-fd97-492c-890a-c75b2ff27bfa/SA-Annual-Report-2019-2020.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2020-2021, 2021, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/4f1ab814-4743-4bc0-82b8-ce744760f4bc/SA-Annual-Report-2020-2021.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Annual Report 2021-2022, 2022, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getmedia/4af-98de9-e06a-4269-aee3-98d7fd5c52ee/SA-Annual-Report-2021-2022.pdf?ext=.pdf

Screen Australia, Convergence 2011: Australian Content State of Play: Informing Debate, 2011, Convergence 2011: Australian content state of play (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, Friends with benefits: A report on Australia's International Co-production Program, 2012, Friends-with-benefits-report.pdf (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, Gender Matters, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/sa/new-directions/gender-matters

Screen Australia, Gender Matters: Women in the Australian Screen Industry, 2015, Gender-Matters-Women-in-the-Australian-Screen-Industry.pdf (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, Getting down to business: The Producer Offset five years on, 2012, Getting down to business: The Producer Offset five years on (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, Instagram and Screen Australia Announce Recipients of 2022 First Nations Creator Program, 2022, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/sa/media-centre/news/2022/10-14-first-nations-creator-program-22

Screen Australia, Issues in Feature Film Distribution, 2015, Issues in Feature Film Distribution (screen australia. gov.au)

Screen Australia, Playing for Keeps: Enhancing sustainability in Australia's interactive entertainment industry, 2011, Playing for Keeps: Enhancing sustainability in Australia's interactive entertainment industry. (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, Screen Currency: Valuing our screen industry, 2016, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/get-media/1b1312e5-89ad-4f02-abad-daeee601b739/ScreenCurrency-SA-Report.pdf

Screen Australia, Seeing ourselves: Reflections on diversity in Australian TV drama, 2016, <u>TV-Drama-Diversity.pdf (screenaustralia.gov.au)</u>

Screen Australia, Skin in the Game: The Producer Offset 10 years on, 2017, Skin-in-the-game-producer-offset. pdf (screenaustralia.gov.au)

Screen Australia, The Next 25 Years: Screen Australia Indigenous Department Strategy, 2019, <u>The-Next-25-Years.pdf</u>(screenaustralia.gov.au)

Relevant legislation

Australian Government, Screen Australia Act 2008, 2008, https://www.legislation.gov.au/Details/C2016C00421

Websites

Australian Taxation Office, Film industry Incentives 2022, 2022, https://www.ato.gov.au/Forms/Film-industry-incentives-2022/?page=2

Screen Australia, Children's Program Production, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-sup-port/television/production/children-s-tv-svod

Screen Australia, Commissioned Program, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/documentary/production/commissioned-program

Screen Australia, Enterprise Business, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/in-dustry-development/businesses/enterprise-business-guidelines

Screen Australia, First Nations Documentary Development, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/development/documentary-development

Screen Australia, First Nations Documentary Production, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/production/documentary-production

Screen Australia, First Nations Feature Development, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/development/feature-development-program

Screen Australia, First Nations Feature Production, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/production/feature-production

Screen Australia, First Nations Sector Development Grants, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/sector-development/first-nations-travel-grants

Screen Australia, First Nations Sector Development Internships, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/gunding-and-support/first-nations/sector-development/internships

Screen Australia, First Nations Sector Development Industry Support, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov. au/funding-and-support/first-nations/sector-development/industry-support

Screen Australia, First Nations TV Drama Development, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/development/tv-drama-development

Screen Australia, First Nations TV Drama Production, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/fund-ing-and-support/first-nations/production/tv-drama-production

Screen Australia, Funding and support,n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support

Screen Australia, Games: Expansion Pack, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/online/games

Screen Australia, General Drama Production, 2023, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-sup-port/television/production/general-tv-svod-production

Screen Australia, *Guidelines Eligibility Significant Australian Content*, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.
au/funding-and-support/producer-offset/guidelines/eligibility/significant-australian-content

Screen Australia, International Finance, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/feature-films/finance-attraction/international-finance

Screen Australia, Online Production, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/online/production/online-production

Screen Australia, Past reviews of programs and operations, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/sa/new-directions/past-reviews

Screen Australia, *Producer Offset*,n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/producer-offset

Screen Australia, Screen Australia, SBS and NITV Announce Digital Originals Are Back for 2022, 2022, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/sa/media-centre/news/2022/01-24-digital-originals-back-for-2022

Screen Australia, Screen Australia Terms of Trade, 2017, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/getme-dia/2e7f34c9-1f1c-420e-a8d6-66e984ea3c92/Terms-of-trade

Screen Australia, Seven New Documentaries Commissioned Through The Curious Australia Initiative, 2022, https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/sa/media-centre/news/2022/01-31-seven-new-documentaries-commissioned

Screen Australia, Skip Ahead, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-support/online/production/special-initiatives/skip-ahead

Screen Australia, Story Development: Generate, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-sup-port/feature-films/development/generate

Screen Australia, Story Development: Premium, n.d., https://www.screenaustralia.gov.au/funding-and-sup-port/feature-films/development/premium

SPAIN / CATALONIA

Reports/documents

Gouvernement espagnol, España Hub Audiovisual de Europa. Plan de impulso al sector audiovisual, 2020, https://espanadigital.gob.es/sites/espanadigital/files/2022-06/Plan%20de%20Impulso%20al%20Sector%20Audiovisual_0.pdf

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Solicitud de expedición de Certificado Cultural, nd., https://www.culturayde-porte.gob.es/dam/jcr:d4297224-2e8e-4733-9e3a-993cc9e838f6/certificadocultural-2019.pdf

Websites

Generalitat de Catalunya, Institut Català de les Empreses Culturals, 2022, https://icec.gencat.cat/ca/inici

Generalitat de Catalunya, Aportaciones reintegrables a proyectos del ámbito de los videojuegos, 2022, https://cultura.gencat.cat/es/tramits/tramits-temes/Ajuts-a-projectes-en-lambit-dels-videojocs-i-el-multimedia

Generalitat de Catalunya, Subvenciones para proyectos de internacionalización de empresas y entidades del ámbito de los videojuegos y de empresas emergentes (start-ups), 2022, https://icec.gencat.cat/es/tramits/tramits-temes/Subvencions-a-projectes-dinternacionalitzacio-dempreses-videojocs?category=73667a8a-a82c-11e3-a972-000c29052e2c

Generalitat de Catalunya, Préstecs Participatius Cultura, 2022, https://icec.gencat.cat/ca/serveis_tramits/subvencions_financament/PPC/

Generalitat de Catalunya, Subvenciones para la incorporación de la lengua catalana en productos tecnológicos y vídeojuegos, 2022, https://web.gencat.cat/es/tramits/tramits-temes/Subvencions-per-a-la-incorporacio-de-la-llengua-catalana-en-productes-tecnologics-00001?category=230652bb-0738-11e8-ac82-005056924a59

Gouvernement espagnol, Proyectos estratégicos para la recuperación y transformación económica (PERTE), 2022, https://planderecuperacion.gob.es/como-acceder-a-los-fondos/pertes#lengua

Gouvernement espagnol, PERTE Nueva economía de la lengua, 2022, https://planderecuperacion.gob.es/co-mo-acceder-a-los-fondos/pertes/perte-nueva-economia-de-la-lengua

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Instituto de la Cinematografía y de las Artes Audiovisuales, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/inicio.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Industrias Culturales, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/in-dustriasculturales/portada.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Ayudas para la promoción del sector del videojuego y otras formas de creación digital, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/industriasculturales/ayudas/ayudas-videojuegos. https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/industriasculturales/ayudas/ayudas-videojuegos.

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Ayudas para la modernización e innovación de las industrias culturales y creativas, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/industriasculturales/ayudas-ayudas-inversio.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Ayudas para la acción y la promoción cultural, 2022, https://www.culturayde-porte.gob.es/cultura/industriasculturales/ayudas/ayudas-accion.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Ayudas a la distribución internacional de películas cinematográficas españolas, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/ayudas/distribucion-internacional.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Ayudas para laboratorios e incubadoras de creación y desarrollo de proyectos audiovisuales, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/ayudas/laboratorios.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Incentivos fiscales en España, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/industria-cine/coproducir-espa/incentivos-fiscales.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Certificado cultural, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/industria-cine/certificado-cultural.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Certificado de nacionalidad española de las películas, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/industria-cine/certificado-nacionalidad-espanola.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Convenios de Coproducción, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/industria-cine/convenios-coproduccion.html

Ministerio de Cultura y Deporte, Espacio de sostenibilidad e igualdad, 2022, https://www.culturaydeporte.gob.es/cultura/areas/cine/sobre-el-icaa/espacio-sostenibilidad-igualdad.html

Pedro Gallo Buenaga, Mª Trinidad García Leiva, [ES] Un pas de plus vers la transposition de la SMAV, IRIS 2022-6:1/1, https://merlin.obs.coe.int/article/9527

FRANCE

Reports/documents

CNC, Code du cinéma et de l'image animée. Parties législatives et réglementaires. Règlement général des aides financières du Centre National du Cinéma et de l'image animée, Edition enrichie des textes d'application, des textes complémentaires et des textes d'origine, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/documents/36995/145433/Code+du+cin%C3%A9ma+et+de+l%E2%80%99image+anim%C3%A9e+et+RGA.pdf/f8386eb6-0609-703e-d85b-5d732ed1e40c

CNC, Soutien au cinéma, à l'audiovisuel et au multimédia. Perspectives 2022, document stratégique de performance du CNC dans le cadre de l'examen du projet de loi de finances, 2022, <a href="https://www.cnc.fr/documents/36995/153127/Document+strat%C3%A9gique+de+performance+du+CNC+dans+le+cadre+de+l%E2%80%99examen+du+projet+de+loi+de+finances+pour+2022.pdf/02fa951e-8bd4-0baf-d783-2f69ada7be52?t=1634723480187

CNC, Les aides à l'audiovisuel. Plaquette de présentation générale, 2023, $\frac{\text{https://www.cnc.fr/documents/36995/180962/Pr\%C3\%A9sentation+du+Fonds+de+soutien+audiovisuel+\%28FSA\%29+-+Mars+2021.}{\text{pdf/f60d8b68-9f2d-4053-2559-87d8851f89f7}}$

CNC, Documents stratégiques de performance du CNC, n.d., https://www.cnc.fr/a-propos-du-cnc/missions/documents-strategiques-de-performance-du-cnc

CNC, Études et rapports cinéma, 2023, n.d., https://www.cnc.fr/cinema/etudes-et-rapports

Relevant decrees and bills

Décret n°90-66 du 17 janvier 1990 pris pour l'application de la loi n° 86-1067 du 30 septembre 1986 et fixant les principes généraux concernant la diffusion des oeuvres cinématographiques et audiovisuelles par les éditeurs de services de télévision, 1990, https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/loda/id/JORFTEXT000000342173/#:~:text=septembre%201986%20...-,D%C3%A9cret%20n%C2%B090%2D66%20du%2017%20janvier%201990%20 pris,%C3%A9diteurs%20de%20services%20de%20t%C3%A9l%C3%A9vision

Assemblée nationale, Projet de loi relatif à la communication audiovisuelle et à la souveraineté culturelle à l'ère numérique, N° 2488, 2019, <u>https://www.assemblee-nationale.fr/dyn/15/textes/l15b2488_projet-loi</u>

Décret n° 2021-793 du 22 juin 2021 relatif aux services de médias audiovisuels à la demande, 2021, https://www.legifrance.gouv.fr/jorf/id/JORFTEXT000043688681

Websites

CSA, Formulaire pour une demande de qualification européenne d'une œuvre, 2018, https://www.csa.fr/ Mes-services/Mes-outils-pro/Formulaire-pour-une-demande-de-qualification-europeenne-d-une-oeuvre

CNC, Les SOFICA, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/production/les-sofica_759536

CNC, Fonds d'aide à la création immersive, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/creation-immersive_1725797

- CNC, Fonds d'aide au jeu vidéo (FAJV), 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/jeu-video/fonds-daide-au-jeu-video-fajv_191468
- CNC, Appel à projets « portage et adaptation », 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-finance-ments/creation-numerique/appel-a-projets-portage-et-adaptation_1753294
- CNC, Appel à projet France 2030 « La grande fabrique de l'image » sur les studios et la formation, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/appel-a-projet-france-2030—la-grande-fabrique-de-limage—sur-les-studios-et-la-formation_1672282
- CNC, Fonds d'aide aux créateurs vidéo sur Internet (CNC Talent), 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/creation-numerique/fonds-daide-aux-createurs-video-sur-internet-cnc-talent_190814
- CNC, Appel à projets « Savoirs et Cultures », 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/production/appel-a-projets—savoirs-et-cultures_1401497
- CNC, Aide sélective à la diffusion en vidéo à la demande (VàD), 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/video-et-vad/soutien-selectif-a-lexploitation-en-video-a-la-demande-vad_191020
- CNC, Aide financière automatique à la diffusion en vidéo à la demande (VàD), 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/profes-sionnels/aides-et-financements/video-et-vad/aide-financiere-automatique-a-la-diffusion-en-video-a-la-demande-vad_191728
- CNC, Fonds sélectif plateforme (FSP), 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/audio-visuel/production/fonds-selectif-plateforme-fsp_1571186
- CNC, Fonds d'aide à la promotion à l'étranger des œuvres cinématographiques, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/exportation/fonds-daide-a-la-promotion-a-letranger-des-oeuvres-cinematographiques_190734
- CNC, Crédit d'impôt audiovisuel, 2023, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/audiovis-uel/production/credit-dimpot-audiovisuel_778316
- CNC, Crédit d'impôt cinéma, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/cinema/production/credit-dimpot-cinema_132769
- CNC, Crédit d'impôt international, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/production/credit-dimpot-international_778354
- CNC, Crédit d'impôt jeu vidéo, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/jeu-video/credit-dimpot-jeu-video_121078
- CNC, Aide aux cinémas du monde, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/production/aide-aux-cinemas-du-monde_190862
- CNC, Fonds images de la diversité, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/images-de-la-diversite/fonds-images-de-la-diversite_191484
- CNC, Aide sélective pour les œuvres cinématographiques intéressant les cultures d'outre-mer, 2022, https://www.cnc.fr/professionnels/aides-et-financements/multi-sectoriel/production/aide-select-ive-pour-les-oeuvres-cinematographiques-interessant-les-cultures-doutremer_191124

NEW ZEALAND

Reports/documents

Cabinet Economic Growth and Infrastructure Committee, Review of Government Assistance to the Screen Sector, Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment and Ministry for Culture and Heritage, 2013, https://mch.govt.nz/files/Review%20of%20Government%20Assistance%20to%20Screen%20Sector%202013%20Cabinet%20paper%20(D-0493018).PDF

Jackson, Peter and David Courrt, Review of the New Zealand Film Commission: A report to the Hon Chris Finlayson, MP, Minister for Arts, Culture & Heritage, Minister for Arts, Culture and Heritage, 2010, https://mch.govt.nz/sites/default/files/100628NZReport.pdf

Kudos Organisational Dynamic, *Being Heard Report*, NZFC, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2022-09/Being%20Heard%20Report.pdf

Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment, Review of Government investment in the screen sector, 2021, https://www.mbie.govt.nz/business-and-employment/economic-development/screen-sector/review-of-government-investment-in-the-screen-sector/

NZFC, Annual Report 2007-2008, 2008, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2007-08.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2009, 2009, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2008-09.pdf

 $NZFC, Annual\,Report\,2010,\,2010,\, \underline{https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2009-10.\,\underline{pdf}$

NZFC, Annual Report 2010-2011, 2011, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2010-11.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2011-2012, 2012, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2011-2012.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2012-2013, 2013, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2013_FA_WEB-Links.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2013-2014, 2014, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_web_updated_101214.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2014-2015, 2015, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/ANNUAL_REPORT_for_web_2015.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2015-2016, 2016, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/NZFC_Annual_Report_2016_web_-_FINAL.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2016-2017, 2017, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2017-12/AReport_2017_Fl-NALpdf.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2017-2018, 2018, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2018-11/NZFC_2018_AN-NUALREPORT_FINAL.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2018-2019, 2019, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2019-12/NZFC_AR_2019_FINAL_web2.pdf

NZFC, Annual Report 2019-2020, 2020, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%20 https://www.nzfiles/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%20 https://www.nzfiles/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%20 https://www.nzfiles/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%20 https://www.nzfiles/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%20 <a href="https://www.nzfiles/default/files/2021-01/NZFC%2

NZFC, Annual Report 2020-2021, 2021, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2021-12/AR_2021_PRE_AUDIT_with%20updates.pdf

NZFC, He Ara Whakaurunga Kanorau - NZFC Diversity and Inclusion Strategy, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2022-05/NZFC%20Diversity%20and%20Inclusion%20Strategy%202022-2025.pdf

NZFC, iGeneration Report: Engaging a generation - attracting the iGeneration to the cinema, 2017, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2018-05/180518_iGen_Booklet_AW.pdf

NZFC, NZFC's Big Screen Symposium Presentation 2020, 2020, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/news/nzfcs-big-screen-symposium-presentation-2020

NZFC, Statement of Intent 2017-2021, 2019, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/Statement_of_intent_2017_-_FINAL_0.pdf

NZFC, Statement of Intent 2019-2023, 2019, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2019-07/NZFC_501%202019-23_Final5.pdf

NZFC, Statement of Intent 2022-2026, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2022-07/NZ%20 FILM%20STATEMENT2022.pdf

NZFC, Te Rautaki Māori Strategy 2018-2021, 2018, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2018-04/ Te%20Rautaki%20English%20270418%20WEB.pdf

NZFC, Te Tumu Whakaata Taonga New Zealand Film Commission's Big Screen Symposium Presentation 2022, bttps://www.nzfilm.co.nz/news/te-tumu-whakaata-taonga-new-zealand-film-commissions-big-screen-symposium-presentation-2022

Olsberg-SPI, Economic Impact of the New Zealand Aotearoa Screen Production Sector, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2022-07/Economic%20Impact%20of%20the%20New%20Zealand%20Screen%20Production%20Sector%20-%20Final%202022-07-06.pdf

Relevant legislation

New Zealand Government, New Zealand Film Commission Act 1978, 12 octobre 1978, https://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1978/0061/latest/whole.html

Websites

NZFC, Accessing the 5% Uplift, 2019, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/incentives-co-productions/nzspg-international/accessing-5-uplift-1-july-2017

NZFC, Funding programmes, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funding-and-support/funding-programmes

NZFC, He Ara Development Fund, 2021, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/he-ara-development-fund

NZFC, He Pounamu Te Reo Māori Feature Film Initiative, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/he-pounamu-te-reo-maori-feature-film-initiative

NZFC, International Co-Development Fund, 2021, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/co-development-fund

NZFC, NZ Film On Demand, 2023, https://ondemand.nzfilm.co.nz/

NZFC, NZFC Terms of Trade, 2021, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/sites/default/files/2017-11/TERMS%200F%20 TRADE%20-%20With%20Updated%20deliverables_Feb22.pdf

NZFC, Premium Productions for International Audiences Fund (Te Puna Kairangi Premium Fund), 2020, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/premium-productions-international-audiences-fund-te-puna-kairangi-premium-fund

NZFC, Tautoko Tāngata Māori Talent Development, 2020, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/tautoko-t%C4%81ngata-m%C4%81ori-talent-development

NZFC, Te Aupounamu Māori Screen Excellence Award, 2023, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/te-aupounamu-m-ori-screen-excellence-award

NZFC, The New Zealand Screen Production Grant for International Productions, 2023, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/incentives-co-productions/nzspg-international

NZFC, The New Zealand Screen Production Grant for New Zealand Productions, 2023, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/incentives-co-productions/nzspg-nz

NZFC, Unreal Engine Real-Time Short Film Challenge, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/unreal-engine-real-time-short-film-challenge

NZFC, Whakawhanake Kiriata: Māori Film Development Funds, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/whakawhanake-kiriata-m-ori-film-development-funds

NZFC, Whakawhanake Te Ao Niko - Interactive Development Fund, 2022, https://www.nzfilm.co.nz/funds/whakawhanake-te-ao-niko-interactive-development-fund

UNITED KINGDOM

Reports/documents

Alma Economics, Review of UK Independent Film, BFI, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/economic-review-uk-independent-film

BFI, Annual review and management agreement, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/strategy-policy/annual-re-view-management-agreement

BFI, BFI2022 Strategy document, 2017, https://www.bfi.org.uk/strategy-policy/policy-statements/bfi2022

BFI, BFI Diversity Standards, 2019, https://www.bfi.org.uk/inclusion-film-industry/bfi-diversity-standards

 $BFI, BFI National Lottery Funding Plan 2023-2026, 2022, \\ \underline{https://blog.bfi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/BFI_Screen-Culture-Funding-Plan.pdf}$

BFI, BFI National Lottery Funding Strategy from 2023 to 2033, 2022, https://blog.bfi.org.uk/wp-content/up-loads/2022/09/BFI-Screen-Culture-2033_National-Lottery-Strategy.pdf

BFI, BFI Skills Review 2022: Workforce development in the scripted film and high-end television production sector, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/bfi-skills-review-2022

BFI, Film Forever Supporting UK Film: BFI Plan 2012-2017, 2017, https://www2.bfi.org.uk/sites/bfi.org.uk/files/downloads/bfi-film-forever-2012-17.pdf

BFI, Future Films Skills: An Action Plan, 2017, https://www.bfi.org.uk/film-industry/bfi-film-skills-fund-bfi-business-development-fund

- BFI, Response to Department for Culture, Media and Sport's consultation on cultural tests for the new creative tax reliefs, 2012, https://www2.bfi.org.uk/sites/bfi.org.uk/files/downloads/bfi-response-to-dcms-consultation-on-cultural-tests-for-the-new-creative-sector-tax-reliefs-2012-10.pdf
- BFI, Response to the Department for Culture, Media and Sport's Public Service Broadcasting Contestable Fund Consultation, 2017, https://www.bfi.org.uk/strategy-policy/policy-statements/consultations-publications
- BFI, Response to Call for evidence to the Culture, Media and Sport Select Committee Inquiry into the social impact of participation in culture and sport, 2018, https://www2.bfi.org.uk/sites/bfi.org.uk/files/downloads/bfi-response-call-for-evidence-to-cms-select-committee-inquiry-social-impact-of-participation-in-culture-and-sport-feb-2018-03-22.pdf
- BFI, Screen Culture 2033, 2022, https://blog.bfi.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2022/09/BFI-Screen-Culture-2033_Ten-Year-Strategy.pdf
- BFI, Succès de plume? Female Screenwriters and Directors of UK Film, 2010-2012, 2013, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/diversity-reports
- BFI, Understanding the Hearts and Minds of UK Audiences: Senior industry figures discuss how to build on the British love of film, 2012, https://www.bfi.org.uk/sites/bfi.org.uk/files/downloads/bfi-understanding-the-hearts-and-minds-of-uk-audienes-2012-10-16.pdf
- BFI, Working with the UK after EU exist: Answering questions from the screen sector, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/strategy-policy/policy-statements/working-with-uk-after-eu-exit-answering-questions-from-screen-sectors

Bigger Picture Research, *BFI Diversity Standards Initial Findings*, BFI, 2020, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/bfi-diversity-standards-initial-findings

Department for Culture, Media and Sport, A Future For British Film: It begins with the audience..., 2012, https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78460/DCMS_film_policy_review_report-2012_update.pdf

Department for Culture, Media & Sport, *Triennal Review of the British Film Institute*, 2014, https://assets.pub-lishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/354106/140912BFL_TR_vFinal_3_.pdf

Independent Film Commission report, *BFI Commission on UK Independent Film*, BFI, 2018, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/bfi-commission-uk-independent-film

N. Lawton, Ricky and Daniel Fujiwara, BFI Britain on Film: A case study on the public value of online public access to film heritage, BFI, 2017, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/britain-film-impact-study

New Inclusion, Review of the BFI Diversity Standard, BFI, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/review-bfi-diversity-standards

Nwonka, Clive James, Race and Ethnicity in the UK Film Industry: an analysis of the BFI Diversity Standards, BFI, 2020, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/diversity-reports

Olsberg-SPI and Nordicity, *Cultural and Audience Contributions of the UK's Film, High-End TV, Video Games and Animation Programming Sectors*, BFI, Pinewood Group, Ukie, British Film Commission and Pact, 2015, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/cultural-impact

Olsberg-SPI and Nordicity, Screen Business: How screen sector tax reliefs power economic growth across the UK, 2018, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/uk-screen-sector-economy

Olsberg-SPI and Nordicity, Screen Business 2021: How screen sector tax reliefs power economic growth across the UK 2017-2019, BFI, 2021, https://www.bfi.org.uk/industry-data-insights/reports/uk-screen-sector-economy

Websites

BFI, BFI Digital Collection, 2023, https://digital-collection.bfi.org.uk/welcome

BFI, BFI Player, 2023, https://player.bfi.org.uk/

BFI, Bridgerton, Top Boy and Heartstopper join the BFI National Archive and the nation's screen heritage: Twenty-six Netflix films and series enter the BFI's national collection, 2022, https://www.bfi.org.uk/news/bridgerton-top-boy-heartstopper-bfi-national-archive-netflix

BFI, Completion Fund, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support/create-films-tv-or-new-formats-storytelling/completion-fund

BFI, Development Fund, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support/create-films-tv-or-new-formats-storytelling/development-fund

BFI, Get funding and support, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support

BFI, *Production Fund*, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support/create-films-tv-or-new-formats-sto-rytelling/production-fund

BFI, Short Form Animation Funding - Immersive Projects, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support/create-films-tv-or-new-formats-storytelling/short-form-animation-funding-immersive-projects

BFI, The cultural test for film, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/apply-british-certification-tax-relief/cultur-al-test-film

BFI, UK Global Screen Fund, n.d., https://www.bfi.org.uk/get-funding-support/funding-support-internation-al-activity/uk-global-screen-fund

Government of the United Kingdom, Equality Act 2010, 2015, https://www.gov.uk/guidance/equality-act-2010-guidance

EUROPEAN UNION

Relevant legislation

Union européenne, Règlement (UE) n°1295/2013 du Parlement européen et du Conseil du 11 décembre 2013 établissant le programme «Europe Créative» (2014 à 2020) et abrogeant les décisions n°1718/2006/CE, n°1855/2006/CE et n°1041/2009/CE, Journal officiel de l'Union européenne, L 347/221, 2013, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/FR/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32013R1295&from=EN

Website

Commission européenne, À propos du programme Europe créative, Culture and Creativity, 2022, https://culture.ec.europa.eu/fr/creative-europe

LIST OF INTERVIEWEES

AUSTRALIA

- Brunsdon, Grainne, Head of Content, Screen Australia
- Bates, Angela, Head of First Nations, Screen Australia
- Naimo, Lee, Head of Online, Screen Australia
- Hickey, Kate, Senior Manager of Strategic and Policy Insights, Screen Australia
- Leung, Vanessa, Research Project Lead, Screen Australia

SPAIN

- Rodríguez Ortiz, Elisa, Deputy Director for Promotion and International Relationships, Instituto de la Cinematografía y de las Artes Audiovisuales (ICAA)
- del Barrio, Helena, Head of Service of Digital Culture, Sub-directorate general for the promotion Cultural Industries, Directorate General for Cultural Industries, Intellectual Property and Cooperation, Ministry of Culture and Sport (responses received in writing)

FRANCE

- **Delacoudre, Cécile**, Project Manager, Selective Aid for Creation and Distribution on Digital Platforms, Directorate of Creation, Territories and Audiences, CNC
- Bruneau, Daphné, Deputy Director, Directorate of Creation, Territories and Audiences, CNC
- Fontenay, Olivier, Head of the Digital Creation Department, Digital Directorate, CNC
- Thomas, Leslie, Secretary General, CNC
- Vincent, Florant, Director, Digital Directorate, CNC

NEW ZEALAND

- Payne, Chris, Acting Chief Operating Officer and Head of International Relations, NZFC
- Waaka, Te o Kahurangi, Pouwhakahaere o Te Rautaki Maori and NZFC Diversity & Inclusion Committee Member, NZFC
- Hancock, Tayla, Senior Policy Advisor and Chair of NZFC Diversity & Inclusion Committee, NZFC

UNITED KINGDOM

- Moody, Agnieszka, Head of Industry and International Policy, BFI
- Hoyes, Melanie, Head of Inclusion, BFI







